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SFR Investments Pool 1, LLC (“SFR”) hereby files its Reply in Support of its Motion for 

Summary Judgment. SFR hereby incorporates its Opposition to Nationstar’s Motion for Summary 

Judgment and Counter-Motion to Strike, filed on December 14, 2017, as if fully stated herein. 

INTRODUCTION 

This matter was remanded from the Nevada Supreme Court with very simple instructions. 

This Court was to conclude “whether Freddie owned the loan in question, or whether Nationstar 

had a contract with Freddie Mac or the FHFA to service the loan in question.” Nationstar 

Mortgage, LLC v. SFR Investments Pool 1, LLC, 396 P.3d 754, 758 (Nev. 2017). The Nevada 

Supreme Court did not disturb any of the other grounds on which this Court granted judgment in 

favor of SFR in the first instance. As a result of the remand, the Bank had one job: prove that 

Freddie owned the loan and that the Bank had a right to service this loan on behalf of Freddie. The 

Bank has failed to complete this job and providing nothing that prevents this Court from granting 

summary judgment in favor of SFR. 

STATEMENT OF DISPUTED AND UNDISPUTED FACTS 

SFR hereby incorporates the Statement of Undisputed Facts from its MSJ, as well as the 

Statement of Disputed Facts presented in its Opp., as if fully stated herein. In addition, SFR states 

as follows: 

Disputed Fact #1: Nationstar’s dispute regarding whether the foreclosure sale 

complied with all requirements of law. Bank Opp. at 2:21-23. 

This issue was not previously raised and is therefore waived by the Bank.  Further, this 

Court has already validated the foreclosure sale in its prior Order Granting Summary Judgment, 

which was not overturned by the Nevada Supreme Court on remand.  As stated previously, there 

were specific issues which were to be resolved on remand, and this was not one of them. This 

disputed fact does not prevent this Court from granting summary judgment in favor of SFR. 

LEGAL ARGUMENT   

I. THE BANK FAILED TO MEET ITS BURDEN ON REMAND. 

When this case was on appeal, the Nevada Supreme Court stated that “the servicer of a loan 

owned by a regulated entity may argue that the Federal Foreclosure Bar preempts NRS 116.3116, 

JA_0965
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and that neither Freddie Mac nor the FHFA need be joined as a party.” Nationstar Mortgage, LLC 

v. SFR Investments Pool 1, LLC, 396 P.3d 754, 758 (Nev. 2017). 

However, “the district court did not determine whether Freddie owned the loan in question, 

or whether Nationstar had a contract with Freddie Mac or the FHFA to service the loan in question. 

Rather, the district court held that Nationstar lacked standing in either case.” Id. “Therefore, we 

conclude that remand is appropriate so the district court may address these factual inquiries in the 

first instance.” Id. (footnote omitted). 

The Bank has failed to prove either factor for which this matter was remanded. The Bank 

has not proven that Freddie Mac owned the loan in question, nor has it provided the contract with 

Freddie Mac or the FHFA by which Nationstar services the loan. 
 

A. The Bank has the Burden of Proving its Defenses (or Claims Masquerading 
As Defenses). 
 

The Bank’s arguments are entirely premised on the idea that Freddie Mac allegedly 

purchased the underlying loan, obtaining a property interest prior to the Association foreclosure 

sale, and since Freddie Mac was under the conservatorship of the FHFA, the so-called “Federal 

Foreclosure Bar” under 12 U.S.C. 4617(j)(3) allegedly precluded SFR from acquiring free and 

clear interest in the Property. This argument requires the Bank to prove that the purported loan is 

“property of” the FHFA for purposes of 4617(j)(3), which in turn requires the Bank to prove that 

Freddie owned the purported loan at the time of the sale and that FHFA succeeded to the loan 

rather than it being held in trust. See Breliant v. Preferred Equities Corp., 918 P.2d 314, 318 (Nev. 

1996) (Evidence of a superior interest must be enough to overcome the “presumption in favor of 

the record titleholder” who is SFR in this case).  

Here, the evidence shows that the Bank, Freddie, nor FHFA have any interest in the 

Property. Moreover, FHFA and the Enterprises have already admitted that as “[a] threshold matter, 

of course, [Plaintiff] must have a property interest in order for [4617(j)(3)] to apply.” Dansker, 

No. 2:13–cv–01420–RCJ–GWF (ECF No. 54, 2:12-13). Herein, the Bank, Freddie, and the FHFA 

have exclusive access to and possession of facts concerning securitization, whether the mortgage 

was “held in trust.” Adobe, 809 F.3d at 1080. Thus, the Bank is possession of all the information 

JA_0966
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to meets it burden of proving quiet title if what it alleged is true. 

However, the Bank has utterly failed to provide any evidence to substantiate their claims. 

As the Bank bears the burden to establish its purported defense pursuant to 12 U.S.C. 4617(j)(3) 

and it failed to meet said burden, this Court should grant summary judgment in favor of SFR. 
 

B. The Bank’s Evidence of Freddie’s Ownership and its Contractual Interest in 
Servicing the Property is Unsatisfactory. 

The Bank is the named party and had the responsibility to establish the Freddie owns the 

mortgage in question. The following is a comprehensive list of such evidence the Bank has 

produced to support Freddie’s alleged loan interest in the property: 

1) Screenshot from Nationstar’s Servicing System; 
2) The “please read” message / the Servicing Guidelines; and 
3) Testimony regarding Limited Power of Attorney to Nationstar from Freddie. 

Each of these were discussed extensively in SFR’s MSJ and were not substantively 

responded to in the Bank’s Opp. Further, the only additional evidence the Bank asserts supports 

their position was the late-disclosed declaration of Dean Meyer, attached to its MSJ as Exhibit B. 

The Bank purports to attach yet another self-serving, late-disclosed supplemental declaration of 

Mr. Meyer to its Opp., however, the Bank’s Opp. did not actually contain any exhibits. In any 

event, for the same reasons presented in SFR’s Opp. regarding Mr. Meyers first declaration, any 

additional declarations of Mr. Meyer should be equally disregarded. To the extent the Bank does 

produce this supplemental declaration and attempts in some way to supplement with the purported 

exhibits, it should be stricken for the same reasons laid out in SFR’s Counter-Motion to Strike 

Exhibit B to the Bank’s MSJ. 

SFR further addressed the downfalls of the Bank’s “evidence” in significant detail within 

its MSJ, and especially within SFR’s Opp. and Counter-Motion to Strike, and as a matter of 

efficiency, said arguments are incorporated as if fully stated herein. 

The only argument presented by the Bank related to its purported “contract” with Freddie 

Mac or FHFA is a reference to Freddie Mac’s Single-Family Seller/Servicer Guide (“Guide”). As 

stated within SFR’s Opp., said Guide is not sufficient to establish the relationship necessary, nor 

can this Court take judicial notice of the Guide, or any “facts” purportedly established by same. 
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C. Even if Freddie has a Property Interest, the Bank Cannot Refute that the 
Mortgage is Held In Trust. 

SFR’s arguments on this issue are detailed within SFR’s MSJ and SFR’s Opp. The Bank 

has failed to provide any sufficient evidence or argument to refute the scenario presented by SFR. 

The only “evidence” provided by the Bank was another late-disclosed, self-serving supplemental 

declaration of Mr. Meyer, which came with no other supporting evidence. As referenced above, 

this purported supplemental declaration should be stricken for the same reasons the original 

declaration of Mr. Meyer should be stricken. 

The Bank then argues that the Borrower FAQs provided by SFR apply to some other 

category of loans allegedly owned by Freddie Mac. However, we have yet another assertion that 

is entirely unsupported by evidence. Argument of counsel is not evidence. It is not SFR’s burden 

to demonstrate the loan was held in trust; it is the Bank’s burden to demonstrate that it is not held 

in trust. The April 15, 2015 bulletin referenced by the Bank is hearsay and the Bank is trying to 

use it to prove the facts asserted therein. In any event, the bulletin makes no reference, inclusive 

or exclusive, to the FAQs noted by SFR. Again, the Bank has failed to meet its burden. 

Additionally, the Bank reliance on Elmer is overstated. First, Elmer is unpublished. 

Second, Elmer is not inconsistent to SFR’s position. The Bank is essentially arguing semantics. 

Even if the Bank’s position was correct, and the FHFA “succeeded” to a mortgage held in trust by 

Freddie Mac, the FHFA would only succeed to whatever interest Freddie Mac had. Thus, if Freddie 

Mac was acting as a trustee and held a mortgage in trust, then even assuming arguendo that the 

Bank’s interpretation and application of Elmer is correct, the FHFA would only succeed to the 

interest Freddie Mac had as a trustee, but would not succeed to the mortgage, as the underlying 

trust would retain ownership. Based on that interpretation, the protections afforded under 12 

U.S.C. 4617(j)(3) would be inapplicable, as the mortgage would not be property of the Agency. 

The burden lies with the Bank to disprove this line of reasoning; it is not SFR’s burden to prove 

it, as it goes directly to the Bank’s “defense” under 4617(j)(3), and does not prevent summary 

judgment in favor of SFR. 

II. SFR IS A BONA FIDE PURCHASER FOR VALUE 

 As laid out in SFR’s Opp. and Counter-Motion, SFR is a BFP and the Bank provided no 

JA_0968



1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

 

- 6 - 
 

 
K

IM
G

IL
B

E
R

T
 E

B
R

O
N

 
76

25
 D

EA
N

 M
A

RT
IN

 D
R

IV
E,

 S
U

IT
E 

11
0 

LA
S 

V
EG

A
S,

 N
EV

A
D

A
 8

91
39

 
(7

02
) 4

85
-3

30
0 

FA
X

 (7
02

) 4
85

-3
30

1 
 

evidence or argument to the contrary. In the interest of efficiency, SFR hereby incorporates by 

reference the arguments regarding SFR’s BFP status as if fully stated herein. See SFR’s Opp. at 

25:14-29:26. 

CONCLUSION 

SFR has met its burden and come to this Court with a valid foreclosure deed. The Nevada 

Supreme Court has instructed this Court to evaluate both Freddie Mac’s interest in the property, 

as well as the Bank’s contractual right to service this property. However, the Bank has failed to 

provide evidence that Freddie Mac owns the mortgage or that it has a right to service this property 

on behalf of Freddie Mac. Therefore, this Court should enter summary judgment against the Bank 

and in favor of SFR, stating that (1) title is quieted in SFR’s name; (2) the DOT was extinguished; 

and (3) the Bank, and any agents, successors and assigns are permanently enjoined from 

interfering with SFR’s possession and ownership of the Property. 

Dated this 28th day of December, 2017 
 
 KIM GILBERT EBRON 
 
 By:  /s/ Jacqueline A. Gilbert  

JACQUELINE A. GILBERT, ESQ. 
Nevada Bar No. 10593 
DIANA S. EBRON, ESQ. 

 Nevada Bar No. 10580 
 7625 Dean Martin Drive, Suite 110 
 Las Vegas, Nevada 89139-5974 
 Telephone: (702) 485-3300 
 Facsimile: (702) 485-3301 
 Attorney for Defendant/Counterclaimant/ 
 Cross-Claimant, 
 SFR Investments Pool 1, LLC 
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

 I hereby certify that on the   28th   day of December 2017, pursuant to NRCP 5(b)(2)(D), I 

caused service of a true and correct copy of the foregoing SFR INVESTMENTS POOL 1, LLC’S 

REPLY IN SUPPORT OF ITS MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT to be made 

electronically via the Eighth Judicial District Court's electronic filing system upon the following 

parties at the e-mail addresses listed below: 

 
 
  
 
 
 
  /s/ Jason G. Martinez  
 An employee of KIM GILBERT EBRON 

JA_0970



TAB 18 

TAB 18 

TAB  18 

JA_0971



43745260;1 

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

A
K

E
R

M
A

N
 L

LP
16

35
 V

IL
LA

G
E 

C
EN

TE
R

 C
IR

C
LE

, S
U

IT
E 

20
0

LA
S 

V
EG

A
S,

 N
EV

A
D

A
 8

91
34

TE
L.

: (
70

2)
 6

34
-5

00
0 

–
FA

X
: (

70
2)

 3
80

-8
57

2

MELANIE D. MORGAN, ESQ. 
Nevada Bar No. 8215 
TENESA S. SCATURRO, ESQ. 
Nevada Bar No. 12488 
AKERMAN LLP 
1635 Village Center Circle, Suite 200 
Las Vegas, Nevada 89144 
Telephone: (702) 634-5000 
Facsimile: (702) 380-8572 
Email: melanie.morgan@akerman.com 
Email: tenesa.scaturro@akerman.com 

Attorneys for Nationstar Mortgage, LLC 

DISTRICT COURT 
CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA 

IGNACIO GUTIERREZ, an individual,

Plaintiff, 

vs.

SFR INVESTMENTS POOL 1, LLC; NEVADA 
ASSOCIATION SERVICES, INC.; HORIZON 
HEIGHTS HOMEOWNERS ASSOCIATION; 
KB HOME MORTGAGE COMPANY, a foreign 
corporation; DOE Individuals I through X; ROE 
Corporations and Organizations I through X,  

Defendants.

Case No.: A-13-684715-C  
Dept.: XVII 

NATIONSTAR MORTGAGE LLC’S
ERRATA TO MOTION FOR SUMMARY 
JUDGMENT 

SFR INVESTMENTS POOL 1, LLC, Nevada 
Limited Liability Company,  

Counter-Claimant and Third Party Plaintiff, 

vs.

IGNACIO GUTIERREZ, an individual; 
NATIONSTAR MORTGAGE, LLC, a Delaware 
limited liability company; COUNTRYWIDE 
HOME LOANS, INC., a foreign corporation; 
DOES I through X; and ROES 1-10, inclusive, 

Counter-Defendant and Third Party Defendants.

Nationstar Mortgage LLC files this errata to its renewed motion for summary judgment filed 

on November 15, 2017.  Exhibit E to Nationstar's renewed motion, Nationstar's declaration in 

support of the motion, inadvertently omitted the exhibits to the declaration. 

Case Number: A-13-684715-C

Electronically Filed
1/8/2018 5:45 PM
Steven D. Grierson
CLERK OF THE COURTCLERK OF THE COURT
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A corrected copy of Exhibit E with attachments is attached hereto.  

DATED this 8th day of January, 2018. 

AKERMAN LLP 

/s/ Tenesa S. Scaturro____________ 

MELANIE D. MORGAN, ESQ. 
Nevada Bar No. 8215 
TENESA S. SCATURRO, ESQ. 
Nevada Bar No. 12488 
1635 Village Center Circle, Suite 200 
Las Vegas, Nevada 89134 
Attorneys for Nationstar Mortgage, LLC 
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

I HEREBY CERTIFY that on this 8th of January, 2018 and pursuant to NRCP 5(b), I served 

via the Clark County electronic filing system a true and correct copy of the foregoing 

NATIONSTAR MORTGAGE LLC'S ERRATA TO MOTION FOR SUMMARY 

JUDGMENT, addressed to: 

Kim Gilbert Ebron  

Diana S. Ebron diana@kgelegal.com

KGE E-Service List eservice@kgelegal.com

Michael L. Sturm mike@kgelegal.com

Tomas Valerio staff@kgelegal.com

tomas tomas tomas@kgelegal.com

Law Offices of P. Sterling Kerr

P. Sterling Kerr psklaw@aol.com

Geisendorf & Vilkin, PLLC 

Richard J. Vilkin richard@vilkinlaw.com

/s/ Doug J. Layne 
An employee of AKERMAN LLP 
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July 27, 2012

Re: New Nationstar Loan Number 0597203363

Dear Ignacio A Gutierrez,

Please  be  advised that the information contained in this letter is being sent for informational purposes, and should not
be considered as an attempt to collect a debt.

REPRESENTATION OF PRINTED DOCUMENT

INTERNET REPRINT
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  July 27, 2012
 

  

 

 

63912 0000468
 
IGNACIO A GUTIERREZ
668 MOONLIGHT STROLL ST
HENDERSON NV  89002-0505

NOTICE OF ASSIGNMENT, SALE, OR TRANSFER OF SERVICING RIGHTS
 
Dear Ignacio A Gutierrez:
 
You are hereby notified that the servicing of your mortgage loan, that is, the right to collect payments from you, is being assigned, sold or
transferred from BANK OF AMERICA to Nationstar Mortgage LLC, effective 07/15/12.
 
The assignment, sale or transfer of the servicing of the mortgage loan does not affect any term or condition of the mortgage instruments,
other than terms directly related to the servicing of your loan.
 
Except in limited circumstances, the law requires Nationstar Mortgage send you this notice no later than 15 days after the effective date
of the transfer.
 
Your new servicer is Nationstar Mortgage LLC.
 
Nationstar Mortgage's business address is:
 

Nationstar Mortgage LLC
350 Highland Drive
Lewisville, Texas 75067

Nationstar Mortgage's toll free number is 1-877-782-7612. If you have any questions relating to the transfer of servicing to Nationstar
Mortgage, call 1-877-782-7612 between 8 a.m. and 8 p.m. on the following days Monday - Thursday, 8 a.m. and 5 p.m. on Friday, or
visit us anytime at 

The date that Nationstar Mortgage will start accepting payments from you is 07/15/12.  You can pay online via the Nationstar Mortgage
website at , or you can send all payments due on or after that date to:
 

Nationstar Mortgage LLC
PO Box 650783
Dallas, Texas 75265

 
Your mortgage life insurance, disability insurance and/or other optional products will not continue. If you wish to retain optional
products, you will need to contact your current optional product/service provider.
 
Enclosed is your Welcome Letter which includes a payment coupon with detailed loan information.
 

During the 60-day period following the effective date of the transfer of the loan servicing, a loan payment received by your old servicer
before its due date may not be treated by the new loan servicer as late, and a late fee may not be imposed on you.
 
Section 6 of RESPA (12 U.S.C 2605) gives you certain consumer rights.  If you send a "qualified written request" to your loan servicer
concerning the servicing of your loan, your servicer must provide you with a written acknowledgement within 5 Business Days of receipt
of your request.  A "qualified written request" is a written correspondence, other than notice on a payment coupon or other payment
medium supplied by the servicer, which includes your name and account number, and your reasons for the request.  If you want to send a
"qualified written request" regarding the servicing of your loan, it must be sent to this address:
 

Nationstar Mortgage LLC
Attention Research Department
350 Highland Drive
Lewisville, Texas 75067

Not later than 30 Business Days after receiving your request, your servicer must make any appropriate corrections to your account, and
must provide you with a written clarification regarding any dispute.  During this 60-Business Day period, your servicer may not provide
information to a consumer reporting agency concerning any overdue payment related to such period or qualified written request.
However, this does not prevent the servicer from initiating foreclosure if proper grounds exist under the mortgage documents.
 
A Business Day is a day on which the offices of the business are open to the public for carrying on substantially all of its business
functions.
 
Section 6 of RESPA also provides for damages and costs for individuals or classes of individuals in circumstances where servicers are
shown to have violated the requirements of that Section.  You should seek legal advice if you believe your rights have been violated.
 
Important Loan Transfer "Home Affordable Modification Program" Information
 

If you are currently participating in (or being considered for) a loan modification program,
we will be transferring all your documentation to the new servicer. Until the transfer date, you should continue to make your payments
(e.g., trial payments if attempting to qualify for a modification under the Home Affordable Modification Program) to BANK OF
AMERICA. After transfer, you should make all payments to Nationstar until such time that you are provided additional direction.
Decisions regarding qualification will be made by Nationstar. All information regarding other loss mitigation activities (forbearance
agreements, short sales, refinances and deed-in-lieu of foreclosure) will be forwarded to Nationstar for processing. Please be advised that
this transfer may extend the time needed for a final decision.
 
Sincerely,                                                      
Nationstar Mortgage LLC                                        

REPRESENTATION OF PRINTED DOCUMENT

INTERNET REPRINT
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Case Number: A-13-684715-C

Electronically Filed
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Steven D. Grierson
CLERK OF THE COURTCLERK OF THE COURT
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RPLY
DIANA S. EBRON, ESQ.
Nevada Bar No. 10580  
E-mail: diana@KGElegal.com
JACQUELINE A. GILBERT, ESQ. 
Nevada Bar No. 10593 
E-mail: jackie@KGElegal.com
KAREN L. HANKS, ESQ. 
Nevada Bar No. 9578 
E-mail: karen@KGElegal.com
KIM GILBERT EBRON
7625 Dean Martin Drive, Suite 110 
Las Vegas, Nevada 89139  
Telephone: (702) 485-3300 
Facsimile: (702) 485-3301 
Attorneys for SFR Investments Pool 1, LLC 

DISTRICT COURT

CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA

IGNACIO GUTIERREZ, an individual,

Plaintiff,
vs.

SFR INVESTMENTS POOL 1, LLC; 
NEVADA ASSOCIATION SERVICES, INC.; 
HORIZON HEIGHTS HOMEOWNERS 
ASSOCIATION; KB HOME MORTGAGE 
COMPANY, a foreign corporation, DOE 
Individuals I through X, ROE Corporations and 
Organizations I through X, 

Defendants.

Case No. A-13-684715-C

Dept. No. XVII

SFR INVESTMENTS POOL 1, LLC’S 
REPLY IN SUPPORT OF COUNTER 
MOTION TO STRIKE 

Hearing Date: January 17, 2018
Hearing Time: 8:30 a.m.

And Related Claims

SFR Investments Pool 1, LLC (“SFR”) hereby replies in support of its motion to strike 

Exhibit B to Bank’s motion, “Federal Home Loan Mortgage Corporation’s [“Freddie Mac’s”] 

Declaration in Support of Nationstar Mortgage, LLC”s Renewed Motion for Summary 

Judgment” because neither Freddie Mac nor Dean Meyer were disclosed within the original or 

the extended discovery period. This reply is based on the following memorandum of points and 

authorities, the papers and pleadings on file herein, including SFR’s motion for summary 

judgement and SFR’s opposition to Nationstar’s motion to reopen discovery and oral argument 

heard by the Court at the hearing on this matter. 

…

Case Number: A-13-684715-C

Electronically Filed
1/12/2018 10:56 PM
Steven D. Grierson
CLERK OF THE COURTCLERK OF THE COURT
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MEMORANDUM OF POINTS AND AUTHORITIES 

I. INTRODUCTION 

In Nationstar’s opposition to SFR’s counter-motion to strike the late disclosure of Freddie 

Mac as a witness and the declaration of Dean Meyer, it boldly states, that “Nationstar’s 

disclosure was timely as Nevada’s Rules of Civil Procedure do not mandate that supplements to 

initial disclosures be made before the discovery cutoff date.” Nationstar cites to NRCP 16.1 in 

support of this statement, but fails to point to any language that could potentially allow 

disclosures well after the close of discovery, at the summary judgment phase. Similarly, it fails to 

provide any case law to support its position. 

Nationstar should be held to its position that it does not need Freddie Mac to be a party or 

to produce evidence as a witness in this case. It should not be allowed to slip in a new witness 

after the close of discovery, cutting off any opportunity of SFR to depose that witness. 

Nationstar’s opposition to SFR’s counter-motion to strike is essentially a motion to reopen 

discovery that must be denied. Nationstar has failed to show good cause for an extension of 

discovery as required by NRCP 16(b). Nationstar’s counsel’s declaration fails to explain how it 

“inadvertently” failed to name Freddie Mac as a witness in any of its initial or five supplemental 

disclosures signed pursuant to NRCP 11, despite making multiple revisions to the witness section 

of the disclosure. Nationstar does not fully explain why it purportedly did not learn of its failure 

to disclose until November 29, 2017 when SFR references the non-disclosure in its motion for 

summary judgment filed on November 16, 2017. 

In addition to its failure to show good cause, Nationstar’s bad faith is apparent on the face 

of its briefs. If Nationstar truly “inadvertently failed to disclose Freddie Mac as a witness,” it 

would at least offer to attempt to mitigate the prejudice to SFR caused by its late disclosure. But 

it does not. Instead it asks for discovery to “be reopened for the limited purpose of allowing 

Nationstar to disclose a Freddie Mac witness.” It appears Nationstar is using gamesmanship to 

try to deprive SFR of its right to properly challenge the purported evidence by waiting until well 

after the time SFR could have subpoenaed Freddie Mac to even claim Freddie Mac had any 

relevant information to this litigation. 
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As the Nevada Court of Appeals explained, “[d]isregard of the [scheduling] order would 

undermine the court's ability to control its docket, disrupt the agreed-upon course of the 

litigation, and reward the indolent and the cavalier.” Nutton v. Sunset Station, Inc., 131 Nev. 

Adv. Op. 34, 357 P.3d 966, 971 (Nev. App. 2015) (citing Johnson v. Mammoth Recreations, 

Inc., 975 F.2d 604, 610 (9th Cir.1992).) In this case, as outlined below, Nationstar has 

disregarded the deadlines in the scheduling orders over and over again. Nationstar’s failure to 

comply with the requirements of NRCP 16.1 has already caused extensive delay and duplicative 

costs for SFR that would have been unnecessary if Nationstar had properly disclosed documents 

in the first instance. Granting Nationstar’s instant motion would “reward the indolent and 

cavalier.”  Nationstar’s motion should be denied, and SFR’s countermotion to strike the rogue 

declaration of Freddie Mac attached to Nationstar’s motion for summary judgment should be 

granted. 

II. BACKGROUND 

Nationstar first appeared in this litigation in September 2013 by filing a motion to dismiss 

SFR’s claims. The motion was ultimately granted. On November 25, 2014, a stipulation and 

order vacating the order granting Nationstar’s motion to dismiss with prejudice and entering an 

order denying the motion to dismiss was filed. On December 22, 2014, the parties submitted a 

joint case conference report.  On December 31, 2014, a scheduling order was entered that set the 

close of discovery on August 6, 2015 and a dispositive motion on September 8, 2015.   

Although SFR granted an extension of the initial disclosure deadline from November 20, 

2014 to December 30, 2014, Nationstar failed to make its initial disclosures until July 9, 2015.  

The initial disclosures failed to mention Freddie Mac as an entity “likely to have information 

discoverable under Rule 26(b)” as required by NRCP 16.1(a)(1)(A).  The documents attached to 

Nationstar’s initial disclosures were limited to “Recorded documents for APN 179-31-714-046.”   

On July 27, 2015, Nationstar made its first supplemental disclosures adding only 

“Documents produced responsive to subpoena duces tecum served upon by Nevada Association 

Services, Inc.”  Again, Nationstar failed to include Freddie Mac as having any discoverable 

information or any documents evidencing Freddie Mac’s purported interest.   
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Later, after the close of discovery and four days before the dispositive motion deadline, 

on September 4, 2015, Nationstar made its second supplemental disclosure which again did not 

mention Freddie Mac as a potential witness.  Similar to the previous disclosures, Nationstar’s 

second supplemental disclosure failed to provide any documents showing Freddie Mac’s 

purported interest in the Deed of Trust—instead, it disclosed an expert report and “Documents 

produced responsive to Subpoena Duces Tecum served upon Horizon Heights Homeowners 

Association on July 22, 2015.”   

On September 8, 2015, SFR filed its motion for summary judgment.  Nationstar failed to 

file any dispositive motion by the deadline.  Nationstar filed a “counter motion” for summary 

judgment 20 days after the dispositive motion deadline. SFR’s motion was ultimately granted. 

This matter was remanded from the Nevada Supreme Court with very simple 

instructions. This Court was to conclude “whether Freddie owned the loan in question, or 

whether Nationstar had a contract with Freddie Mac or the FHFA to service the loan in 

question.” Nationstar Mortgage, LLC v. SFR Investments Pool 1, LLC, 396 P.3d 754, 758 (Nev. 

2017). As a result of the remand, the Bank had one job: prove that Freddie owned the loan and 

that the Bank had a right to service this loan on behalf of Freddie.   

Although it was SFR’s position that discovery should not be reopened, at a July 19, 2017 

status check, Nationstar requested and received 90 days of additional discovery to produce the 

evidence it failed to produce in nearly four previous years of litigation. See July 19, 2017 Status 

Hearing Transcript, attached as Exhibit A.  

In its argument to obtain additional time for discovery, Nationstar’s counsel explained 

that it needed to make additional disclosures and acknowledged that once Nationstar made those 

disclosures, SFR should have the opportunity to do “anything and everything they need—they 

believe is necessary to evaluate that evidence” including take depositions. Id. at 4:5-17. SFR’s 

counsel confirmed that SFR would need to take depositions of “whoever they’re going to 

disclose.” Id. at 4:21.  

Importantly, at the same hearing, counsel for Nationstar also expressed its position that 

the evidence previously produced, “in the form of testimony from Nationstar saying it was the 
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servicer and it—and that Freddie owns the loan” was enough to prove the servicing relationship 

and Freddie’s ownership. Id. at 3:21-4:4.  

After the status check, on July 28, 2017, Nationstar made its third supplemental 

disclosures adding that Nationstar’s witness would testify as to Freddie Mac’s ownership and 

disclosing several hundred pages of documents not previously disclosed. Freddie Mac was not 

named as a witness. On September 19, 2017, Nationstar made its fourth supplemental 

disclosures, adding three additional witnesses, but not Freddie Mac.  The fourth supplemental 

disclosure also added several documents. On the last day of discovery, October 17, 2017, 

Nationstar made its fifth supplemental disclosure, listing, but not producing a “Payoff statement” 

and updating its computation of damages.  

Although SFR had previously gone through the expense of deposing Nationstar, during 

the extended post-remand discovery period, SFR had to depose Nationstar a second time due to 

the hundreds of pages of documents disclosed post-remand. SFR’s position has always been that 

Freddie Mac does not actually have an interest in the loan underlying the Deed of Trust or any 

relevant information to this case. The reason SFR did not notice the deposition of Freddie Mac 

during the discovery period was because Nationstar had not disclosed Freddie Mac as a witness. 

Additionally, Nationstar changed the description of the testimony that it would provide to 

include “Freddie Mac’s ownership.” It appeared that the Bank would rely on its own witness to 

attempt to prove both Freddie Mac’s purported ownership and its servicing/agency relationship 

with Freddie Mac/FHFA. It was this change in the description of Nationstar’s testimony, 

combined with Nationstar’s consistent position that Freddie Mac was not necessary to the 

litigation in this case and several other cases that led SFR to believe Nationstar’s strategy was to 

attempt to prove Freddie Mac’s ownership and the servicing relationship through testimony from 

Nationstar alone. Nationstar attempts to shift the blame onto SFR, claiming that SFR is somehow 

responsible and not prejudiced by Nationstar’s failure to disclose because SFR purportedly knew 

the non-disclosure was “inadvertent.”  It most certainly did not. If Nationstar truly believed it 

had disclosed Freddie Mac as a witness, it would have given available dates for Freddie Mac’s 

deposition after counsel’s first email.  It did not.  
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The undersigned counsel was surprised by the testimony of Nationstar during the second 

deposition and the witnesses position that he could not testify about any of the documents it 

disclosed that purportedly show an interest by Freddie Mac.  By then, there was no longer time 

in discovery to subpoena Freddie Mac. Nationstar makes a big deal about SFR not following up 

again   

On November 15, 2017 and November 16, 2017, Nationstar and SFR filed their motions 

for summary judgment. SFR’s motion included a reference to Nationstar’s inability to 

authenticate certain documents because Nationstar’s witness had testified that he could not do so 

and Freddie Mac had not been disclosed as a witness. Nationstar’s motion included a declaration 

from Dean Meyer, employee of Freddie Mac. 

On November 29, 2017 at 6:33 pm, Nationstar served its sixth supplemental disclosure 

which named Freddie Mac as a witness.  In a meet and confer, even though SFR explained that it 

would be prejudiced by the inability to depose Freddie Mac due to the late disclosure, Nationstar 

insisted the late disclosure was “harmless.” During the meet and confer, counsel for SFR 

confirmed Nationstar’s position that it would not allow a deposition of Freddie Mac, despite the 

late disclosure. 

III. LEGAL ARGUMENT 

The Nevada Rules of Civil Procedure “shall be construed and administered to secure the 

just, speedy, and inexpensive determination of every action.” NRCP 1 (emphasis added).  

Allowing Nationstar to keep its rogue exhibits by effectively reopening discovery at this late date 

to make a disclosure it had every opportunity to make—and was required to make—during two 

separate discovery periods is not just.  Further it would encourage Nationstar to continue to cause 

delay and added expense in similar cases.  

In its opposition to SFR’s counter-motion to strike, Nationstar fails to address the fact 

that NRCP 16.1(a)(1)(A) required the Bank to provide the “name and, if known, the address and 

telephone number of each individual likely to have information discoverable under Rule 26(b), 

including for impeachment or rebuttal, identifying the subjects of the information” within 14 

days after the Rule 16.1(b) conference, which in this case was held on November 6, 2014. 
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Similarly, Nationstar failed to address SFR’s argument that puursuant to NRCP 

16.1(e)(3), the Court “shall impose upon the party or a party’s attorney, or both, appropriate 

sanctions in regard to the failure(s) as are just, including the following: (A) Any of the sanctions 

available pursuant to Rule 37(b)(2) and Rule 37(f); (B) An order prohibiting the use of any 

witness, document or tangible thing which should have been disclosed, produced, exhibited 

or exchanged pursuant to Rule 16.1(a).” (emphasis added). 

In its motion to re-open discovery, Nationstar quotes EDCR 2.35, explaining that a 

request to extend a discovery deadline less than 20 days prior to the deadline “shall not be 

granted unless the moving party, attorney or other person demonstrates the failure to act was the 

result of excusable neglect.” But Nationstar does not explain in its motion how its failure to 

timely move to extend the discovery deadline constitutes excusable neglect in this case. 

 “Excusable neglect” has been defined as follows: 
 
A failure—which the law will excuse—to take some proper step at the proper 
time (esp. in neglecting to answer a lawsuit) not because of the party's own 
carelessness, inattention, or willful disregard of the court's process, but 
because of some unexpected or unavoidable hindrance or accident or because of 
reliance on the care and vigilance of the party's counsel or on a promise made by 
the adverse party. 

Clark v. Coast Hotels & Casinos, Inc., No. 62603, 2014 WL 3784262, at *3–4 (Nev. July 30, 

2014)(unpublished) (citing Black's Law Dictionary 1133 (9th ed.2009).)(emphasis added). 

Nationstar’s sole explanation appears to be that it was careless or just not paying attention 

to the disclosures its counsel signed and served on SFR.  This does not constitute excusable 

neglect, even if that were the standard for granting Nationstar’s motion. Instead, the standard is 

found under NRCP 16(b), which would apply even if the motion were timely under EDCR 2.35, 

which it is not. Pursuant to NRCP 16(b),  

the judge, or a discovery commissioner shall . . . enter a scheduling order that 
limits the time: (1) To join other parties and to amend the pleadings; (2) To file 
and hear motions; and (3) To complete discovery. 

. . . 
A schedule shall not be modified except by leave of the judge or a discovery 
commissioner upon a showing of good cause. 

(emphasis added). 
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  In Nutton v. Sunset Station, Inc., 131 Nev. Adv. Op. 34, 357 P.3d 966, 972 (Nev. App. 

2015), the Court of Appeals of Nevada noted there is a non-exclusive four-factor test to 

determine whether good cause exists: “(1) the explanation for the untimely conduct; (2) the 

importance of the requested untimely action; (3) the potential prejudice in allowing the untimely 

conduct; and (4) the availability of a continuance to cure such prejudice.” citing S&W Enters., 

LLC v. SouthTrust Bank of Ala, N.A., 315 F.3d 533, 536 (5th Cir. 2003).  However, because the 

factors are non-exclusive, “ultimately, if the moving party was not diligent in at least 

attempting to comply with the deadline, ‘the inquiry should end.’” Id. (emphasis added), 

citing Johnson v. Mammoth Recreations, Inc., 975 F.2d 604, 609, (9th Cir. 1992) and Perfect 

Pearl Co. v. Majestic Pearl & Stone, Inc., 889 F.Supp.2d 453, 457 (S.D.N.Y. 2012) (“A party 

fails to show good cause when the proposed amendment rests on information that the party 

knew, or should have known, in advance of the deadline.”). Additionally, “carelessness is not 

compatible with a finding of diligence and offers no reason for a grant of relief.” Id. 

(emphasis added). 

Here, Nationstar has not provided any evidence of good cause. Nationstar provides no 

adequate explanation of its repeated failure to disclose Freddie Mac as a witness within the 

discovery period. Instead, it offers only carelessness as an excuse—“Nationstar fully intended to 

disclose a Freddie Mac witness, and in fact, thought it had done so until November 29, 2017.”  

Even taking this excuse at face-value, this failure can only be explained by carelessness when 

Nationstar served multiple disclosures post-remand in which the witness disclosures were both 

added to and modified.  Nationstar was not diligent, so the inquiry should end.  

Even if the Court looks beyond Nationstar’s failure to be diligent, which it should not, 

Nationstar does not meet any of the factors for good cause.  First, Nationstar has failed to 

provide a believable explanation of its failure to timely name Freddie Mac as a witness, 

particularly since it has taken the position multiple times that it does not need Freddie Mac to put 

on its case.  It is more likely that Nationstar intentionally left Freddie Mac off as a witness 

because it wanted to prevent SFR from obtaining a deposition of Freddie Mac. Second, 

Nationstar has not explained the importance of adding Freddie Mac as a witness, especially since 
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over the years of litigation in this case, Nationstar has repeatedly taken the position that Freddie 

Mac is not necessary. Third, allowing Nationstar to add Freddie Mac as a witness after 

discovery has closed and summary judgment briefing is complete (or should be complete) 

prejudices SFR.  SFR has not had the opportunity to depose Freddie Mac.  Had Nationstar timely 

listed Freddie Mac as a witness, SFR would have taken Freddie Mac’s deposition. Fourth, a 

continuance would not cure the prejudice caused by granting Nationstar’s request to reopen 

discovery “for the limited purpose of allowing Nationstar to disclose a Freddie Mac witness.” 

Nationstar has not, and cannot meet any of the factors required to show good cause.   

Any attempt by Nationstar to benefit from its late disclosure should be denied in its 

entirety and SFR’s motion to strike should be granted pursuant to NRCP 37(c)(1), which 

provides that:  

A party that without substantial justification fails to disclose information 
required by Rule 16.1, 16.2, or 26(e)(1), or to amend a prior response to discovery 
as required by Rule 26(e)(2), is not, unless such failure is harmless, permitted to 
use as evidence at a trial, at a hearing, or on a motion any witness or information 
not so disclosed.  

NRCP 37(c)(1)(emphasis added).  Nationstar seems to argue that its failure to disclose is 

“harmless” because Freddie Mac’s ownership was central to the remanded case, so SFR should 

have known that Nationstar’s failure was “inadvertent.” Banks like Nationstar litigate their cases 

in a way that does not always make sense to SFR.  They take the position that certain key 

documents and witnesses (at least those SFR believes are key to the banks’ case) are irrelevant 

and unnecessary.  These banks resist discovery into the very documents and testimony they need 

to meet their burdens in this case and then, on the eve of trial, realize they should have just 

answered SFR’s discovery requests and deposition topics. SFR has been subjected to trial by 

ambush on multiple occasions due to late bank disclosures.  This Court should not sanction this 

behavior in this case.     

IV. CONCLUSION 

For the reasons stated above and in SFR’s counter motion to strike filed along with SFR’s 

opposition to Nationstar’s motion for summary judgment, this Court should enter an order 
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striking Exhibit B to Nationstar’s motion for summary judgment, along with all argument based 

thereon. 

Dated this 12th day of January 2018 
 
 KIM GILBERT EBRON 
 
 By:  /s/ Diana S. Ebron, Esq.  

DIANA S. EBRON, ESQ. 
 Nevada Bar No. 10580 
 7625 Dean Martin Drive, Suite 110 
 Las Vegas, Nevada 89139-5974 
 Telephone: (702) 485-3300 
 Facsimile: (702) 485-3301 
 Attorney for Defendant/Counterclaimant/ 
 Cross-Claimant, 
 SFR Investments Pool 1, LLC 
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

I hereby certify that on the   12th   day of January 2018, pursuant to NRCP 5(b)(2)(D), I 

caused service of a true and correct copy of the foregoing SFR INVESTMENTS POOL 1, 

LLC’S REPLY IN SUPPORT OF COUNTER MOTION TO STRIKE  

 to be made electronically via the Eighth Judicial District Court's electronic filing system upon 

the following parties at the e-mail addresses listed below: 

 /s/ Diana S. Ebron 
an employee of  
KIM GILBERT EBRON 
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                             Plaintiff, 
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LAS VEGAS, NEVADA, WEDNESDAY, JULY 19, 2017 

[Proceedings commenced at 8:30 a.m.] 

 THE COURT:  Anyone else? 

 MR. BRENNER:   Good morning, Your Honor, Darren Brenner for Nationstar. 

 MR. CLAYTON:   And good morning, Your Honor, Zachary Clayton for SFR 

Investments. 

 THE COURT:  And this is a status check, a Supreme Court remand. Did we 

need any supplemental briefing or where are we at on this case?  I understand from 

the remand I got to make a determination on whether a regulated entity owned the 

loan in question; correct? 

 MR. BRENNER:   I think -- 

 MR. CLAYTON:   Go ahead. 

 MR. BRENNER:   -- Judge Bixler did it on your behalf, -- 

 THE COURT:  Oh. 

 MR. BRENNER:   -- if that makes a difference, but, Your Honor, you -- 

 THE COURT:  I like that when you have a senior judge appear, when it’s a 

reverse or remand they put the originating judge on this, so -- 

 MR. BRENNER:   Of course. 

 THE COURT:  -- okay. 

 MR. BRENNER:   Of course.  You know, Your Honor, there are a lot of judges 

who rule this way. This the first order we have gotten on the HERA preemption issue 

and it’s -- as you’ve probably seen, it’s not dispositive. It only resolves the issue of 

standing and it says there’s two factual issues that remain; ownership and the 

servicing relationship between the servicer and the GSE.  And then there’s a legal 

issue that remains. The Supreme Court decided it was still going to leave whether 
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the legal issue of federal preemption to the district court and not resolve that issue. 

  What I can tell Your Honor is this is, not surprisingly, the first order -- it’s 

one of the first cases that addressed the issue. We do not brief them the same way 

and we do not use the same evidence that we used to in order to address the 

issues. I think what my client would like to have is an opportunity to present the 

evidence in the form it would today based on the actual issues presented and 

decided for the first time by the Supreme Court, and then re-brief the matter and that 

would require some additional disclosures on our part.  

  If Your Honor wasn’t willing to do that at a status check, and I think it’s 

the easiest way is just to re-open deadlines and do it today, but if you weren’t willing 

to do it a status check then I think we would at least need some additional briefing 

and the opportunity to explain why 56(f) relief is appropriate in this circumstance 

given how everything has changed. 

 MR. CLAYTON:   And if I may, Your Honor, I agree with Counsel’s description 

of the case from the Nevada Supreme Court. However, being that factual issues is 

the -- really the servicing relationship and then ownership, those -- that’s all 

evidence that should be presented at the underlying trial. I mean this is a quiet title 

action.  So, while I agree with briefing, I do not think we need to re-open discovery.  I 

think we can get right to the briefing in deciding these issues. 

 THE COURT:  Specifically, what discovery are you seeking? 

 MR. BRENNER:   Let me tell you what happened in this case, Your Honor.  

We -- the evidence we presented was in the form of testimony from Nationstar 

saying it was the servicer and it -- and that Freddie owns the loan.  And you 

probably saw the concurrence from Judge Stigler. She said that’s enough to prove it 

and think -- and I think the Supreme Court decided it. The Supreme Court didn’t say, 
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no, that’s not enough. The Supreme Court remanded on the procedural issue of the 

Court didn’t decide whether that’s enough and I -- and we want the Court to decide 

first. So, it’s not that we don’t think that’s enough. It’s that we want it to be 

consistent.  

  So, what we do today is -- that’s different two years later after this is all 

developed and especially if we have this new opinion, is we supply testimony from a 

corporate representative of Freddie. We supply all of the servicing guides. We 

supply the business records that the individual from Freddie relies on. And really 

what we’re trying to do is just get to the merits here and this is how its evolved two 

years since this motion after dealing with these issues, and ultimately, yes, Counsel 

is right that that was the record that was presented to the Court, but I think there’s 

this unique situation of Nevada HOA where there is no precedence, where 

everything is a moving target. We just want to submit the best record to the Court so 

it can be decided on the merits. And absolutely, no problem; once we make those 

disclosures with Plaintiff doing anything and everything they need -- they believe is 

necessary to evaluate that evidence, take depositions, do what it is that they think 

they need to do in order to assess. 

 MR. CLAYTON:   Well, I would just say that in a quiet title action it’s always 

been you had to present evidence of your interest in the property superior to other 

parties, so that should have been the underlying record. However, if the Court is 

inclined to grant them, we would need to take depositions of their -- whoever they’re 

going to disclose. 

 THE COURT:  How much time do you need? 

 MR. BRENNER:   I think we could do it in 90 days. 

 THE COURT:  All right, we’ll re-open discovery for 90 days, thereafter either 

JA_1098



 

Page - 5 

A-13-684715 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

 

party is free to file any new briefing on this matter; okay? 

 MR. CLAYTON:   Thank you. 

 THE COURT:  All right, thank you, Counsel. 

 MR. BRENNER:   Thank you, Your Honor. 

 THE COURT:  And I remember when I saw this, I didn’t remember ruling on 

this and so that’s why -- but they put my name on it, so. 

 MR. CLAYTON:   Thank you, Your Honor. 

 MR. BRENNER:   Thank you, Your Honor. 

 THE COURT:  Thank you. 

  

[Proceedings concluded at 8:35 a.m.] 

* * * * * * 

 
ATTEST:    I do hereby certify that I have truly and correctly transcribed the 
audio/video recording in the above-entitled case to the best of my ability. 
 
 
        __________________________ 
       CYNTHIA GEORGILAS 
       Court Recorder/Transcriber 
       District Court Dept. XVII 
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WEDNESDAY, JANUARY 17, 2018 AT 9:31 A.M. 

 

THE COURT:  Gutierrez, SFR.   

MS. MORGAN:  Yes.  Melanie Morgan for Nationstar. 

MS. HANKS:  Karen Hanks for SFR Investments Pool 

1, LLC. 

MS. EBRON:  Diana Ebron for SFR Investments Pool 

1, LLC. 

THE COURT:  Thank you.  And this is Nationstar’s 

Renewed Motion for Summary Judgment and then we also have a 

Counter Motion as well, but -- 

MS. MORGAN:  Yes, Your Honor.  As you know, this 

is a matter on remand following a published opinion and the 

issue on remand is Freddie Mac’s ownership of this loan.  

In support of our Motion for Summary Judgment, we disclosed 

a declaration of Dean Meyer and Mr. Meyer’s declaration 

sets forth details concerning Freddie Mac’s ownership, how 

long it’s owned the loan, who the servicers were, and, 

essentially, how it was tracked in Freddie Mac’s system. 

The MITA [phonetic] screenshots attached as 

Exhibit 1 in the second column shows that the loan with was 

funded in August 22
nd
, 2005.  That’s when Freddie Mac 

obtained its ownership interest.  Freddie Mac purchased the 

loan from Bank of America in 2005.  Its participation 

percentage is shown as 1 percent.  That means it’s 100 
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percent Freddie Mac owned.  Bank of America serviced the 

loan, which was Freddie Mac owned, from August 22
nd
, 2005 

through July 16
th
, 2012 and that’s when Nationstar began 

servicing it and, again, the record will reflect that as 

well.  Nationstar was servicing on behalf of Freddie Mac at 

the time of the HOA foreclosure in April 2013.  And the 

MITA [phonetic] screenshots attached to Mr. Meyer’s 

declaration show that Nationstar was the servicer at the 

time and was servicing at the time that these screenshots 

were printed out.   

All of these business records were disclosed 

during the time of discovery.  Counsel had the opportunity 

to depose Nationstar in this case not once but twice and 

Nationstar’s testimony was consistent with Freddie Mac’s 

testimony.  Now, Nation -- SFR takes issue with the fact 

that Freddie Mac was not disclosed as a witness and, 

admittedly, Freddie Mac -- we thought we had disclosed 

Freddie Mac as a witness.  As soon as it was remanded, we 

realized on November 29
th
 that we had not and, on that same 

day, we disclosed a witness for Freddie Mac.   

And, you know, we meant to disclose it earlier.  

We didn’t realize that the Freddie Mac witness hadn’t been 

disclosed, but there’s no prejudice in this case.  And, in 

fact, NRCP 26(e)(1) says that a party is under a duty to 

supplement if it learns that information is complete -- is 
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incomplete, I’m sorry, and if the information is not 

otherwise been made known to the other parties.  Well, SFR 

has known for years that this -- well, they don’t agree 

that it's a Freddie Mac loan, but they’ve known for years 

that we’ve contended that this is a Freddie Mac loan.  This 

is not new information.  Nationstar testified as to Freddie 

Mac’s ownership the first time it was deposed.  It 

testified to Freddie Mac’s ownership the second time it was 

deposed.   

And, in fact, SFR wanted to depose Freddie Mac in 

this case.  SFR’s counsel e-mailed my office on September 

12
th
 saying we need to depose Freddie Mac, Nationstar, and I  

think the other one was Countrywide.  That same day, SFR’s 

counsel e-mailed me again saying:  I only see your first -- 

I think they said first and third supplemental disclosures.  

Have you made any other disclosures?  We e-mailed them all 

of our disclosures and, at that time, SFR realized, because 

we just gave them all of our disclosures again, that we 

hadn’t disclosed a Freddie Mac witness.   

We went forward with the second deposition of 

Nationstar.  SFR didn’t bring up deposing Freddie Mac again 

and sat on that information until they filed their Motion 

for Summary Judgment which, of course, if that’s how they 

want to litigate and that’s how they want to strategize, 

they don’t have a duty to tell us, you know, you didn’t 
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disclose this person.  If they don’t want to disclose them 

that’s fine.  They don’t have to disclose Freddie Mac, but 

what you can’t do is sit on the information and then -- 

knowingly for months and then come in and claim some kind 

of prejudice.  And on that basis, on that strategic 

decision to sit on that information try to exclude the 

affidavit of Mr. Meyer. 

Again, the business records were disclosed.  This 

is not any kind of surprise that this is a Freddie Mac 

loan. 

Now, importantly, this is the same type of 

information that the courts relied on in Berezovsky, in 

Elmer.  The declaration and the screenshots from the 

enterprise that indicate when the enterprise became the 

owner of the loan and, you know, we’ve set that all out.  

There’s no competing affidavits or information that some 

other entity owns the loan.  So, to that extent, it’s 

unrebutted that this is a Freddie Mac loan.  

And, again, it seems that the real thing that SFR 

is attempting to rely on at this point is that a Freddie 

Mac witness wasn’t disclosed until November 29
th
.  I’ll just 

point out, we don’t even have a trial date yet.  We did 

file a Motion to Reopen Discovery that’s being heard by the 

Discovery Commissioner on February 14
th
 for -- and the 

Motion, the basis is for the sole purpose of just 
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disclosing that one witness.  We can open discovery for 30 

minutes while I put together -- you know?  I mean, that’s -

- for all we know, that’s it.  The witness was disclosed.   

Again, there’s no prejudice here and, you know, 

when we look at the issue on remand, it’s:  Did Freddie Mac 

own this loan?  And we’ve provided the unrebutted evidence 

that indeed Freddie Mac does own this loan.  And, so, 

there’s nothing -- I mean, summary judgment is warranted in 

this case. 

THE COURT:  All right.  Thank you. 

MS. HANKS:  Your Honor, I’m going to just -- we 

have a Motion for Summary Judgment too, but I want to 

address the Counter Motion to Strike because that’s really 

what it boils down to because it’s our position that you 

can’t even consider anything that Ms. Morgan just argued 

because she’s relying on the affidavit of Dean Meyer, who 

wasn’t disclosed.   

And, so, -- and I want to back up because I want 

to give them some context.  This is a 2013 case.  2013.  

And here we are in 2018 back from remand from the Supreme 

Court which said you’ve got to prove the contractual 

servicer relationship and you have to prove ownership and 

yet they actually stand before you and say it -- we didn’t 

realize we didn’t have the witness to prove that.  I find 

it absurd and then to say -- and she does correctly 
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recognize that I don’t -- we don’t have the burden to tell 

you you’re not proving your case.   

And, so, that’s where we are.  The burden of proof 

is on them.  It’s their claim.  It’s their defense.  

They’re saying 46.17J3 app[lies and yet as a threshold 

question, the Nevada Supreme Court said:  Okay.  We agree 

with you.  You can have a sub servicer bring this claim, 

but you have to prove the contractual service relationship 

between the sub servicer and Freddie Mac and then you have 

to prove that Freddie Mac actually owned it.  Those are the 

threshold questions and then they remanded it back. 

And, so, -- and then they don’t meet their burden.  

If you look at this case as to what they disclosed, they 

did not disclose a witness that could authenticate those 

documents.  While they disclosed the documents from Freddie 

Mac, they did not disclose the witness who could testify 

about them.  And essentially said -- in fact, actually 

identified Nationstar as the witness who was going to 

testify about all of that.  That’s what they did.  That’s 

the key here.  Their disclosure said:  Nationstar was going 

to testify about all oft hose documents, the ownership of 

Freddie Mac, and the contractual servicer relationship.  

That’s how they identified that witness.  And they had 

taken the position throughout the course of this 

litigation, all the way up to the Nevada Supreme Court, 
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that Freddie Mac does not need to be here.   

So, when we decide to notice a deposition of 

Nationstar after the remand, we fully expected to be able 

to get questions -- answers to our questions about the 

documents they produced and those two key questions that 

were on remand.  And then when we get in there, Mr. Kovalic 

says:  I can’t testify about those Freddie Mac documents.  

I’ve never seen them.  I’m not aware of how Freddie Mac 

maintains their records.  And, so, all he could testify 

about was one sole screenshot from Nationstar’s records 

that have an acronym that he said identifies Freddie Mac.  

That’s it.  He knows nothing about the loan of what Freddie 

Mac did after they supposedly purchased it.  He can’t 

answer any questions about whether it was securitized.  He 

can’t answer questions of how the loan was handled once it 

was in the Freddie Mac system.  He basically tells us:  I 

can’t answer any of those questions.   

And based on that, and based on their disclosures, 

discovery closes and we file a Motion for Summary Judgment 

saying they haven’t done what they were supposed to do.  

They didn’t do it before and they still haven’t done it 

after remand.  And now they come -- and once we notify them 

of that, once they see that in the Motion for Summary 

Judgment, then we get the 1129 2017 disclosure.  It’s after 

we file our Motion for Summary Judgment that they finally 
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say:  Oh, crap.  We messed up.  Now we’ve got to identify 

Freddie Mac.   

And, interestingly, when Ms. Ebron had the 2.34 or 

the 2.47, I think, whatever you want to call it at this 

point, but had the meet and confer to do the Counter Motion 

to Strike, Ms. Ebron asked:  Are you not even suggesting 

that you would allow a deposition of Freddie?  In other 

words, are you not even offering to rectify the prejudice 

to SFR at this point, to offer a deposition of Freddie Mac?  

And Ms. -- my understanding from the meet and confer is 

that the Bank said:  No.  That -- we’re not offering that.  

So, that’s where we stood.   

And, so, -- but now they want to say:  Well, now, 

you, SFR, get ambushed, because that’s essentially what it 

is.  And so here we are in a Motion for Summary Judgment 

phase and we get ambushed and we’re not able to depose a 

witness or even do further discovery into documents that 

were disclosed because they did the gamesmanship of only 

identifying Nationstar and then have the audacity to say:  

We don’t have contrary evidence.  Well, we couldn’t do 

discovery on it because you didn’t produce a witness or 

identify a witness. 

So, Your Honor, that is really the threshold issue 

for us at this juncture.  We don’t believe that if you cut 

that out, which is Exhibit B, basically, you will not be 
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able to find judgment in their favor because all they have 

produced -- if you cut out B, if you strike B and grant our 

Motion, Counter Motion to Strike all the declarations of 

Dean Meyer and the exhibits that he tries to authenticate, 

you have a screenshot from Nationstar which says nothing 

about a contractual servicer relationship.  I understand 

there’s a screenshot that identifies you as a sub servicer, 

but there should be a contract and you didn’t produce it.  

That still hasn’t been produced. 

And then you also haven’t produced anything 

because you -- because Keith Kovalic has confirmed he 

cannot testify about the ownership.  And we have offered 

statements made by Freddie Mac in the FAQ where they are 

telling borrowers when they get letters that notify that 

Freddie Mac has purchased your loan, they say:  No, we sell 

it into a trust.  We sell it.  That’s their words.  We sell 

it and we don’t own it.  That’s the representations they 

have out there and that’s Exhibit H7, Your Honor.   

And, so, they -- so that’s really what you have 

before you.  You have nothing in indicating the contractual 

servicer relationship because you have no contract.  They 

didn’t produce that.  And you have nothing before you to 

show anything that Freddie Mac actually owns it because, at 

best, even if they claim to have owned it and purchased it, 

you have statements made by them, public statements that 
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you can find these on their websites, their FAQ, that say 

these letters that we sent to you identifying that we have 

purchased your loan, we do not own it.  We sell it into a 

trust and it’s held by the trust and securitized by the 

trust.   

And, so, any of the information that they put in 

their Opposition that says:  Here, look at Dean Meyer.  He 

explains they took it out of the trust, again, that goes to 

the Motion to Strike.  You cannot consider that.  They have 

nothing.  Mr. Kovalic could not testify about the history 

and how this particular loan was handled once it was 

supposedly sold to Freddie Mac.  And, so, there is where 

our position is that they have not met the threshold 

question to apply 4617(j)(3).   

And, so, -- and I don't know if you want to hear 

the reset of the arguments.  Obviously, the next layer of 

arguments is, even if you do, -- 

THE COURT:  Why don’t you go ahead on that, -- 

MS. HANKS:  Okay.  So even if -- 

THE COURT:  -- in that regard? 

MS. HANKS:  Okay.  So, even if you do, we have 

issues of fact with respect to whether -- let’s say we get 

past the threshold question of they are able to assert 

4617(j)(3).  They’ve met the -- at least the threshold of 

what the Supreme Court said they had to meet, then you have 
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the problem of consent and due process.  And, so, they are 

-- and I recently argued this.  It’s up at the Nevada 

Supreme Court right now.  It’s the -- I know it as the 

Christine Bew [phonetic] case.  It’s a Saticoy Bay case 

that’s -- it’s Fannie Mae, I think, versus Saticoy Bay or 

Saticoy Bay versus Fannie Mae.  And, in that case, we 

argued that the Fannie May now -- and they’re the same as 

Freddie Mac because they’re acting as servicers.  They 

consented to foreclosure and they admitted in those 

pleadings that they have no problem with foreclosure and 

the same is true for Freddie Mac.  There would be issues of 

fact as to whether they consented to the foreclosure.   

Now, they rewrite the statute and even have come 

up with a coined phrase of Federal Foreclosure Bar and then 

they change the language of the statute and say:   Well, we 

didn’t consent to extinguishment.  Well, that’s not what 

the statute says.  It’s not how it reads.  It’s talking 

about foreclosure. 

And I believe nowhere in these papers do you have 

any evidence before you that Freddie Mac did not consent to 

the foreclosure.  So what you have is an issue of fact if -

- even if you think they have survived Motion for Summary 

Judgment, which we think you can grant summary judgment in 

favor of SFR because of the owner -- the lack of proof of 

ownership and contractual servicing relationship, but even 
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if you got to the point where 46.17(j)(3) applies, at a 

minimum, there’s issues of fact as to whether there was 

consent.  And I -- and the reason being is they want to 

rewrite the statute and there’s nothing under what they’ve 

provided where they have said:  We didn’t consent to the 

foreclosure.  What you possibly have is a breakdown in the 

sub servicer/servicer relationship between Freddie Mac and 

Nationstar or Freddie Mac and Bank of America, whoever was 

servicing it at the time of the sale, they did not do what 

they were supposed to do by the directive.  But -- and 

that’s -- you find that in the guide.   

They’ve agreed to be bound by the super priority 

portions.  It’s in our statute.  Their portion is six 

months versus nine months.  All of that is within NRS 116’s 

framework and they have consented to that framework.  A 

long history of consent to that framework.  There’s no 

dispute that they have no qualms with an HOA having an 

ability to foreclose because it protects property values.  

They want an HOA to be able to foreclose on the property 

next door just as much as the -- a first deed of trust 

holder because it will protect the values of the property 

as opposed to allowing properties to go into disarray and 

have an HOA not be able to maintain its community.  So 

they’ve never had a problem with foreclosure.  They’ve 

never had a problem with Nevada’s framework.  They’ve 
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always been at the table.  Their sub servicers have always 

been at the table in negotiating that statute and even when 

it was amended in 2009 they were present in terms of their 

sub servicers like Nationstar, Bank of America.  They were 

all here and they agreed to that framework.  Where the 

breakdown is conveniently now post SFR decision and post 

the 2015 era, they realized we had a breakdown and our sub 

servicers didn’t do what they were supposed to do and allow 

an extinguishment when no one even contemplated that would 

happen because it wasn’t supposed to happen.  They’re 

supposed to pay the super priority, foreclose, and the 

interest would be protected.   

And, so, they have attached or they try to claim:  

Well, see, the 2015 press release statement of the FHFA is 

evidence that they didn’t consent.  Well, that’s a hearsay 

statement.  We object to that.  That’s not evidence this 

Court should consider.  It was made at the time where there 

was litigation pending in both the District Court -- in the 

Eighth Judicial District Court and also the United States 

District Court and where FHFA was actually a party and 

where Fannie May and Freddie Mac were parties.  And, so, 

our position is that’s a hearsay statement.  It doesn’t 

meet the business records section.  It wasn’t made at a -- 

in a normal business practice.  It was definitely made for 

the purposes of furthering the litigation argument that was 
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already being postured in both State Court and Federal 

Court. 

So, because of that, Your Honor, you have no 

evidence before you that proves or that doesn’t create the 

basically -- summarily you can say Freddie Mac did not 

consent to a foreclosure, assuming you get past the 

contractual servicer and ownership problems.   

And, so, Your Honor, they’ve also -- we also have 

issues of fact or problems with the assignments here.  And, 

so, all of these things cut against their argument that you 

can ignore the fact that Freddie Mac is not listed. 

I want to address the Berezovsky argument.  It’s 

not binding on this Court.  It is a Ninth Circuit decision 

but that case was distinct in terms of its differences from 

this case.  Berezovsky was the purchaser.  He filed the 

Motion for Summary Judgment early in that case before 

discovery had closed and then he conceded or waived the 

right to further discovery.  So that is noted in the 

Berezovsky decision.  It’s in a footnote where they say 

this is why we accept the evidence that the Freddie Mac has 

offered and it is not in any way did Berezovsky say this 

evidence will always win the day or where you have a party 

who is challenging it, like we have here, a Motion to 

Strike, or other challenges to it, that that would not 

defeat a Motion for Summary Judgment.  
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So, it’s very important to keep that in mind 

because they do like to come in here and say:  See, 

Berezovsky said here’s the lay of the land, you don’t need 

to go any further.  But just because I didn’t represent Mr. 

Berezovsky, I don’t know the basis why they took that 

strategy, but just because one party might not make an 

argument in one case doesn’t mean it’s waived in another 

case.  And, so, we are definitely differently postured.  

We certainly are not saying that we didn’t need 

discovery.  We actually came -- if you’ll recall, Your 

Honor, when we came back from remand, objected to any 

discovery.  We said:  Look, you were posturing that this 

was your defense from the beginning.  You knew you had to 

prove it.  You took the position that you didn’t need to 

prove it, I guess.  That’s on you.  And, so, just because 

we got remanded from the Court on the standing issue, we 

should not have to reopen discovery.  You disagreed and you 

did reopen it and yet they still didn’t do what they were 

supposed to do.  So, they should not be able to do it after 

the fact, especially after we’ve now filed a second set of 

Motions for Summary Judgment.  You shouldn’t -- you should 

only decide it on the lay of the land, which is only a sub 

servicer screenshot from Nation star, which does not prove 

the contractual service relationship or the ownership of 

Freddie Mac and the guide, which is available online.   
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I mean, by their take, I could literally, myself 

personally, pull the guide and all of a sudden I have a 

contractual servicer relationship with everybody and that’s 

what they’re suggesting.  It’s a public record.  You go 

online and you can look at it.  You can look at multipole 

years of it.  They change it over time.  I can pull a 2012 

version or a 2015 version and that’s all -- that is the sum 

total of the evidence before you in terms of if you strike 

anything that they have tried to produce as part of the 

Sixth Supplement and having Dean Meyer. 

THE COURT:  All right.  Thank you.  Ms. Morgan, if 

I do strike the Sixth Supplement, where are we at? 

MS. MORGAN:  Well, if you strike the Sixth 

Supplement, we still have all of the business records.  

And, so, you know, we still have the affidavit of Dean 

Meyer that we attached to the Motion for Summary Judgment 

which can still be considered.  If the Court disagrees, we 

have the business records, which we will authenticate, you 

know, during the trial.   

You know, that’s where we are, but, I mean, I 

guess, the point is that under 26(e)(1), it wasn’t even an 

untimely disclosure.  And Ms. Hanks was not on that meet 

and confer telephone call.  I was.  And SFR did not ask to 

depose Freddie Mac during that call and they haven’t 

reached out to me by e-mail trying to depose Freddie Mac.  
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Instead, they’ve taken the position that Freddie Mac wasn’t 

timely disclosed.  So, they’re not trying to get any 

further discovery from Freddie Mac.  I mean, that’s the 

position they’re taking.  Ms. Hanks just said they didn’t 

want discovery from the point of the remand.  So, you know, 

they didn’t ask for a deposition of Freddie Mac during that 

call and, if that’s the issue, we can address that.  If 

they want a deposition of Freddie Mac, we can address that. 

THE COURT:  And, just so you know, my question 

wasn’t necessarily that I’m going to, you know, strike or 

not consider the Sixth Supplement, I just wanted to see 

what my -- the alternative arguments are.  So, just so you 

know, just wanted to review it further. 

So, anything else, Ms. Morgan? 

MS. MORGAN:  Oh, well, the servicer guide does 

reflect the contractual relationship and we don’t just have 

the guide out there in a vacuum.  Mr. Kovalic for 

Nationstar testified that that’s the guide that they use to 

govern the servicing relationship between Nationstar and 

Freddie Mac. 

We -- you know, there was a lot said during Ms. 

Hanks’ argument and most of it is fully briefed.  I don’t 

agree that there’s evidence that somehow FHFA consented to 

this foreclosure or to the extinguishment of the deed of 

trust.  Of course, the guide does speak to the fact that 

JA_1118



 

 19 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

 

servicers are to protect Freddie Mac’s interest, but 

nowhere is there any consent to any extinguishment of the 

deed of trust or a super priority foreclosure.  There’s a 

big difference between foreclosure that doesn’t extinguish 

the deed of trust and one that does.  And there’s, you 

know, no evidence here that Freddie Mac, that Nationstar, 

FHFA ever consented to a super priority foreclosure, which 

would result in the extinguishment of the deed of trust.  

So, there’s a bit of some parsing of words on SFR’s part 

there.   

The -- there was mention of securitization of the 

Freddie Mac loan.  It was not securitized at the time of 

the HOA foreclosure sale and we provided evidence of that.   

We never said that Nationstar was going to be the 

party to authenticate these Freddie Mac documents.  And, 

you know, to do so would be pretty odd since our Nationstar 

witness testified that he can’t truthfully -- I mean, he 

can’t authenticate the Freddie Mac documents as they had 

them in front of him at the deposition.  That doesn’t mean 

we can’t, you know, call whichever 30(b)(6), you know, 

representative that we feel necessary to authenticate those 

documents if we have to, but, at this point, we don’t have 

a trial date.  You know, SFR doesn’t want to get to the 

discovery of evidence of Freddie Mac ownership because, you 

know, they don’t want this to be a Freddie Mac owned loan.  
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And I understand that.  So they’re looking to capitalize 

off of an honest mistake.  And I get that.  That’s 

litigation, but if we want to get to the truth and the 

facts, then, you know, the appropriate way to do it would 

be to recognize the affidavit as proper and it is proper 

under Rule 26(e)(1). 

Again, we would be perhaps in a different 

situation if the documents hadn’t been disclosed.  The 

documents have been disclosed.  SFR -- again, SFR has known 

for years, Freddie Mac loan.  So, there’s no surprise.  

They made the strategic decision not to pursue a deposition 

of Freddie Mac. 

THE COURT:  All right.  Thank you.   

MS. EBRON:  If I may, Your Honor?  I was on the 

call with Ms. Morgan.  I specifically asked:  Are you 

telling me that you’re not offering to have a deposition of 

Freddie Mac since you made this mistake?  And she said:  

No.  SFR is not prejudiced.  It’s a harmless error.  We’re 

not offering any type of deposition.   

And, so, that -- I guess that’s their position.  

We can go ahead and not make the disclosures that we should 

have made back in 2013, 2014, at least in 2016, before 

discovery closed, and it’s harmless.  I would believe it 

more that it was just a complete oversight if we haven’t 

faced so much resistance over depositions, particularly of 
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Freddie Mac and Fannie Mae in these cases.  This isn’t the 

only case.  The idea that Freddie Mac is always disclosed 

in these cases is not accurate.  That is not accurate.  

They leave them out as much as possible and we’ve had 

several cases where we’re like:  Hey, Freddie Mac should be 

a party.  No, no, no.  We’re going to object to that.  

We’re going to file motions against that.  I mean, that 

happened in this very case.  Freddie Mac is the one who 

should be here.  No.  They didn’t include them and they 

fought against it.  So, this has been what they’ve been 

saying. 

They did change their witness lineup.  They 

disclosed other witnesses and what they did in one of their 

supplemental disclosures after remand was change the 

description of Nationstar’s testimony to include the 

ownership.  I was actually shocked when I got to the 

deposition of Mr. Kovalic of Nationstar and he took the 

position that he had no ability to authenticate any of 

these documents or talk about any of these documents.  It 

was the 30(b)(6) witness of Nationstar.  We had topics.  We 

asked for information about the documents that they would 

use to prove Freddie Mac’s interest.  I’ve listed out the 

specific documents that were disclosed and they could have 

gotten somebody up to speed if they took the position that 

the servicers or the sub servicer could go ahead and act on 
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behalf of Freddie Mac, which is what their position was at 

the Nevada Supreme Court.  We’re a servicer.  We have this 

agency relationship, so we should be able to do all things 

Freddie Mac, all things FHFA.  I disagree with that.  I 

disagree with the Nevada Supreme Court’s positon on that, 

of course, but, you know, if that’s the way they were 

posturing the case. 

And part of the reason why I think it is 

gamesmanship is the issue of Countrywide as well.  I had 

the e-mail asking for a deposition of Nationstar, 

Countrywide, Bank of America because Bank of America ad 

Countrywide, they were the ones that were actually the 

servicer at the time of the sale.  Nationstar came around 

after the fact.  And, so, they knew I wanted to take those 

three depositions.  So, I look at the disclosures and their 

disclosures still listed, you know, counsel for Countrywide 

as well.  I send out the notices for Nationstar and 

Countrywide, they never ask me:  Hey, where is your notice 

for Freddie Mac?  We’ve got to get that on schedule.  It’s 

really difficult to schedule them.  They didn’t say 

anything.  I’m sure they were just waiting around waiting 

for me not to depose Freddie Mac as well. 

What I do get is me following-up on a Countrywide 

deposition notice.  I’m like:  Hey, I haven’t heard 

anything from you.  Typically I hear from you about the 
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topics listed and if you wanted to change it to 

videoconferencing, anything like that.  I hear nothing from 

them.  So, I follow-up.  And after I do that, there’s a 

gap, and then I hear from them:  Well, Countrywide isn’t a 

party because Countrywide didn’t appeal.  So, they’re not 

there anymore.  So, I’m like:  Oh, okay.  My bad.  Now it’s 

too late to subpoena Bank of America.  So, I go without 

that deposition because they chose to do it this way and to 

take that position where they’re not going to immediately -

- when I say, I want to do the deposition of Countrywide, 

they don’t tell me:  Oh, well, you need to subpoena them.  

They don’t say anything like that.  

So, this all goes into why.  I honestly believe 

they’re going to change -- try to prove their case with the 

Nationstar witness and try to keep us from doing discovery 

in this case.   

We did request, in our Motion, if you’re going to 

consider Dean Meyer’s affidavit at all, it’s not 

appropriate to do -- it is prejudicial to SFR just 

accepting it right now today.  There would have to be 

something that would -- you know, counsel keeps mentioning:  

Well, there’s no trial date, there’s no trial date.  And 

that’s true.  And the only reason that’s relevant or would 

be relevant is if there was time to make it right.  They 

don’t want to make it right.  They want to just ambush us.  
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They don’t want to offer a deposition of Freddie Mac.  They 

want to offer their evidence without any chance for us to 

do the appropriate discovery on it.  

And if you -- Your Honor has any questions about 

that, or about the meets and confers, or the history of 

this particular discovery in this case, then I’d be happy 

to answer them. 

The reason why we said we didn’t want discovery 

was because discovery should have been closed.  They would 

have had none of these documents from Freddie Mac.  They 

would not have any testimony to support any of these claims 

of ownership, that the loan wasn’t securitized, any of 

that.  They wouldn’t have any of that if it hadn’t been 

reopened after remand.  They should have done it and it 

violates it the rules that they didn’t do it with their 

initial disclosures back in -- I think like November of 

2014 or 2013. 

THE COURT:  Anything further, Ms. Morgan? 

MS. MORGAN:  Yes, Your Honor.  I have -- I really 

take offense to -- it’s more than a suggestion that I’m 

perjuring myself and not being truthful with the Court when 

I say Freddie Mac was inadvertently not disclosed.  They’re 

saying -- 

THE COURT:  I’m not interpreting anyone being 

dishonest here.   
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MS. MORGAN:  No.  It was not -- 

THE COURT:  I mean, I just -- 

MS. MORGAN:  -- gamesmanship.  It was an accident.  

I mean, I honestly thought they had been disclosed.  So, 

this wasn’t some kind of a gamesmanship or a tactic.  No.  

It wasn’t at all.   

And, again, it’s not even an untimely disclosure 

under Rule 26.  So, -- 

THE COURT:  All right.  Different issue than the 

previous HOA case here.  Again, I’m going to put this on 

the Chamber’s Calendar for January 31
st
 for a written 

decision by the Court.  I appreciate counsel.  Interesting 

issues here on this matter.  Thank you very much for your 

time this morning. 

MS. MORGAN:  Thank you. 

 

PROCEEDING CONCLUDED AT 10:04 A.M. 

*   *   *   *   * 
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CERTIFICATION 

 

 

 

 

I certify that the foregoing is a correct transcript from 

the audio-visual recording of the proceedings in the 

above-entitled matter. 

 

 

 

 

AFFIRMATION 

 

 

I affirm that this transcript does not contain the social 

security or tax identification number of any person or 

entity. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 KRISTEN LUNKWITZ  
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01/31/2018 3:00 AM
- Nationstar Mortgage, LLC s (Nationstar) Renewed Motion for
Summary Judgment and SFR Investments Pool 1, LLC s (SFR)
Motion for Summary Judgment and Countermotion to Strike came
before this Court on the January 17, 2018 oral calendar. The Court
having further reviewed the pleadings, files, and argument finds as
follows: Summary judgment is appropriate when the pleadings and
other evidence on file demonstrate no genuine issue as to any
material fact [remains] and the moving party is entitled to judgment as
a matter of law. See NRCP 56(c); Wood v. Safeway, Inc., 121 Nev.
724, 731, 121 P.3d 1026, 1031 (2005). In ruling upon a motion for
summary judgment, the Court must view all evidence and inferences
in the light most favorable to the non­moving party. See Torrealba v.
Kesmetis, 124 Nev. 95, 178 P.3d 716 (2008). To rebut a motion for
summary judgment, the nonmoving party must present some specific
facts to demonstrate that a genuine issue of material fact exists.
Forouzan, Inc. v. Bank of George, 128 Nev. 896, 381 P.3d 612 (2012).
SFR s previous Motion for Summary Judgment was granted by Senior
Judge Bixler on October 21, 2015, and the Order granting the same
was entered on November 10, 2015. Judge Bixler s decision was
appealed, and the Nevada Supreme Court remanded the case back to
this Court on July 28, 2017. The question on remand is whether
Freddie Mac owned the loan in question, or whether Nationstar had a
contract with Freddie Mac or the FHFA to service the loan in question.
Nationstar s Renewed Motion for Summary Judgment Freddie Mac
Ownership / Federal Foreclosure Bar The Nevada Supreme Court
held in Nationstar Mortgage, LLC v. SFR Investments Pool 1, LLC, that
in order to have standing, the party seeking relief [must have] a
sufficient interest in the litigation, so as to ensure the litigant will
vigorously and effectively present his or her case against an adverse
party. 133 Nev. Adv. Op. 34 (2017)(citing Schwartz v. Lopez, 132 Nev.
Adv. Op. 73, 382 P.3d 886, 894 (2016). Here, Nationstar had standing
to bring the instant action because it was the servicer of the loan as
evidenced with the screen shots provided of Freddie Mac s computer
data base. The Court FIND ownership of the property in question was
established in the Deed of Trust recorded on 7/20/05, attached as
Exhibit A to Nationstar s instant motion, identifies Freddie Mac (at the
bottom of each page) and puts all parties on notice of Freddie Mac s
interest. Additionally, this Deed of Trust was disclosed previously
during the discovery period. Finally, in its opposition, SFR failed to
provide proof that Fannie May consented to the sale. The Court
FURTHER FINDS, based upon the Federal Foreclosure Bar (12
U.S.C. 4617(j)(3)), the foreclosure at issue was preempted by Federal
law. Commercially Unreasonable Sale Nationstar contends the sales
price at the HOA foreclosure sale was grossly inadequate and was
commercially unreasonable. To set aside an association foreclosure
sale on a theory of commercial unreasonableness there must be a
showing of grossly inadequate price, plus, fraud, unfairness, or
oppression. Shadow Wood HOA v. N.Y. Cmty. Bancorp., 132 Nev. Adv.
Op. 5, 366 P.3d 1105, 1112 (2016) (citing Long v. Towne, 98 Nev. 11,
13, 639, P.2d 528, 530 (1982) ) See also Centeno v. JP Morgan Chase
Bank, N.A., 67365, 2016 WL 1122449, at *1 (Nev. Mar. 18, 2016)
(unpublished Order Vacating and Remanding)(Holding a low sales
price is not a basis for voiding a foreclosure sale absent fraud,
unfairness, oppression... ) See also Golden v. Tomiyasu, 79 Nev. 503,
514, 387 P.2d 989, 995 (1963) (stating that, while a power­of­sale
foreclosure may not be set aside for mere inadequacy of price, it may
be if the price is grossly inadequate and there is in addition proof of
some element of fraud, unfairness, or oppression (internal quotation
omitted))). The Supreme Court of Nevada recently clarified that in
Nevada, courts retain the power to grant equitable relief from a
defective [association] foreclosure sale when appropriate .... Shadow
Wood Homeowners Ass'n, Inc. v. New York Cmty. Bancorp, Inc., 366
P.3d 1105, 1110 (Nev.2016) (en banc). [D]emonstrating that an
association sold a property at its foreclosure sale for an inadequate
price is not enough to set aside a foreclosure sale; there must also be
a showing of fraud, unfairness, or oppression. Id. (citing Long, 98 Nev.
11, 639 P.2d 530). In considering whether equity supports setting aside
the sale in question, the Court is to consider any other factor bearing
on the equities, including actions or inactions of both parties seeking to
set aside the sale and the impact on a bona fide purchaser for value.
Id. at 1114 (finding courts must consider the entirety of the
circumstances that bear upon the equities ). Here, Nationstar contends
that in addition to the grossly inadequate sales price, the lack of notice
of the sale to Nationstar made the sale unfair and oppressive. The
Court, however, does not find this argument to be persuasive. The
analysis for finding fraud, unfairness, or oppression applies to the
seller (HOA) and purchaser (Plaintiff), not whatever mistake may have
occurred by the HOA. See Golden v. Tomiyasu, 79 Nev. 503, 513, 387
P.2d 989, 994 (reviewing fraud and collusion between the foreclosing
trustee and bidders, not fraud, unfairness, or oppression in the
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underlying trustee s substantive actions). See also Centeno v. JP
Morgan Chase Bank, N.A., 67365, 2016 WL 1122449, at *1 (Nev. Mar.
18, 2016)(unpublished Order Vacating and Remanding)(Holding a low
sales price is not a basis for voiding a foreclosure sale absent fraud,
unfairness, oppression... ) Because Nationstar failed to set forth
material issues of fact demonstrating some fraud, unfairness, or
oppression with the actual sale to demonstrate commercial
unreasonableness, the COURT FINDS the sale in question was
commercially reasonable. However, as previously mentioned, the
Federal Foreclosure Bar applies in the instant matter, and the
foreclosure at issue was preempted by Federal law. Therefore,
COURT ORDERED Nationstar Mortgage, LLC s Motion for Summary
Judgment GRANTED. SFR s Motion for Summary Judgment For the
reasons stated in granting Nationstar s motion, SFR s Motion for
Summary Judgment is DENIED. SFR s Countermotion to Strike
Finally, SFR s Countermotion to Strike the declaration from the
Freddie Mac employee is MOOT. Counsel for Nationstar is directed to
submit a proposed order consistent with the foregoing within ten (10)
days after counsel is notified of the ruling and distribute a filed copy to
all parties involved pursuant to EDCR 7.21. Such Order should set
forth a synopsis of the supporting reasons proffered to the Court in
briefing and be approved as to form and content by all parties.
CLERK'S NOTE: A copy of the foregoing minute order has been
electronically distributed to all registered parties.//ob/02/07/18.
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MELANIE D. MORGAN, ESQ. 
Nevada Bar No. 8215 
TENESA POWELL, ESQ. 
Nevada Bar No. 12488 
AKERMAN LLP 
1635 Village Center Circle, Suite 200 
Las Vegas, Nevada 89134 
Telephone: (702) 634-5000 
Facsimile: (702) 380-8572 
Email: melanie.morgan@akerman.com 
Email: tenesa.scaturro@akerman.com 

Attorneys for Nationstar Mortgage, LLC 

DISTRICT COURT 

CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA 

IGNACIO GUTIERREZ, an individual,

Plaintiff, 

vs.

SFR INVESTMENTS POOL 1, LLC; NEVADA 
ASSOCIATION SERVICES, INC.; HORIZON 
HEIGHTS HOMEOWNERS ASSOCIATION; 
KB HOME MORTGAGE COMPANY, a foreign 
corporation; DOE Individuals I through X; ROE 
Corporations and Organizations I through X,  

Defendants.

Case No.: A-13-684715-C  
Dept.: XVII 

NOTICE OF ENTRY OF ORDER 
GRANTING NATIONSTAR MORTGAGE 
LLC’S RENEWED MOTION FOR 
SUMMARY JUDGMENT  

SFR INVESTMENTS POOL 1, LLC, Nevada 
Limited Liability Company,  

Counter-Claimant and Third Party Plaintiff, 

vs.

IGNACIO GUTIERREZ, an individual; 
NATIONSTAR MORTGAGE, LLC, a Delaware 
limited liability company; COUNTRYWIDE 
HOME LOANS, INC., a foreign corporation; 
DOES I through X; and ROES 1-10, inclusive, 

Counter-Defendant and Third Party Defendants.

Case Number: A-13-684715-C
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Steven D. Grierson
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TO ALL PARTIES AND TO THEIR ATTORNEYS OF RECORD:

PLEASE TAKE NOTICE that an ORDER GRANTING NATIONSTAR MORTGAGE 

LLC’S RENEWED MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT was entered on this 11th day of 

April, 2018 a copy of which is attached hereto as Exhibit A.

DATED: April 11, 2018 

AKERMAN LLP 

/s/Tenesa Powell 
Melanie D. Morgan, Esq. 
Nevada Bar No. 8215 
Tenesa Powell, Esq. 
Nevada Bar No. 12488 
1635 Village Center Circle, Suite 200 
Las Vegas, Nevada 89134 
Attorneys for Nationstar Mortgage LLC  
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

I HEREBY CERTIFY that I am an employee of Akerman LLP, and that on this 11th day of 

April, 2018  and pursuant to NRCP 5, I caused to be served a true and correct copy of the foregoing 

NOTICE OF ENTRY [PROPOSED] ORDER GRANTING NATIONSTAR MORTGAGE 

LLC’S RENEWED MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT, in the following manner: 

(ELECTRONIC SERVICE) Pursuant to Administrative Order 14-2, the above-referenced 

document was electronically filed on the date hereof & served through the Notice Of Electronic 

Filing automatically generated by the Court's facilities to those parties listed on the Court's Master 

Service List. 

P. Sterling Kerr, Esq. 
LAW OFFICES OF P. STERLING KERR

2450 St. Rose Parkway, Suite 120 
Henderson, NV 89074 

Attorneys for Ignacio Gutierrez

Richard J. Vilkin, Esq. 
LAW OFFICES OF RICHARD J. VILKIN, P.C. 
1286 Crimson Sage Ave.  
Henderson, NV 89012 

Attorneys for Nevada Association Services, Inc. 

Diana S. Ebron, Esq. 
KIM GILBERT EBRON

7625 Dean Martin Drive, Suite 200 
Las Vegas, Nevada 89139 

Attorneys for Nevada Association Services, Inc. 

/s/Christine Weiss______   
An employee of Akerman LLP 
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Case Number: A-13-684715-C

Electronically Filed
4/11/2018 9:59 AM
Steven D. Grierson
CLERK OF THE COURTCLERK OF THE COURT
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NOAS 
HOWARD C. KIM, ESQ. 
Nevada Bar No. 10386 
E-mail: howard@hkimlaw.com 
DIANA S. CLINE, ESQ. 
Nevada Bar No. 10580  
E-mail: diana@hkimlaw.com 
JACQUELINE A. GILBERT, ESQ. 
Nevada Bar No. 10593 
E-mail: jackie@hkimlaw.com 
HOWARD KIM 	 ASSOCIATES  
1055 Whitney Ranch Dr., Suite 110 
Henderson, Nevada 89014 
Telephone: (702) 485-3300 
Facsimile: (702) 485-3301 
Attorneys for Plaintiff  

DISTRICT COURT 

CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA 

IGNACIO GUTIERREZ, an individual, 

                                    Plaintiff, 

v. 

SFR INVESTMENTS POOL 1, LLC; 
NEVADA ASSOCIATION SERVICES INC., 
HORIZON HEIGHTS HOMEOWNERS 
ASSOCIATION, KB HOME MORTGAGE 
COMPANY, a foreign corporation, DOE 
Individuals I through X; ROE Corporations 
and Organizations I through X, 

                        Defendants. 

 Case No. A-13-684715-C 
 

Dept. No. XVII 
 
 
 
 

NOTICE OF APPEAL 
 
 

  

SFR INVESTMENTS POOL 1, LLC, Nevada 
limited liability company, 

Counter-Claimant and Third Party Plaintiff, 

vs. 

IGNACIO GUTIERREZ, an individual; 
NATIONSTAR MORTGAGE, LLC., a 
Delaware limited liability company; 
COUNTRYWIDE HOME LOANS, INC., a 
foreign corporation; DOES I-X; and ROES 1-
10, inclusive, 

Counter-Defendant/ Third Party Defendants. 

  

Case Number: A-13-684715-C

Electronically Filed
5/14/2018 11:59 AM
Steven D. Grierson
CLERK OF THE COURTCLERK OF THE COURT
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PLEASE TAKE NOTICE that SFR INVESTMENTS POOL 1, LLC hereby appeals from 

the following orders: 

1. Order Granting Nationstar Mortgage LLC’s Renewed Motion for Summary Judgment, 

entered on April 11, 2018; and  

2.  All orders made appealable thereby. 

  

DATED May 14, 2018. 
HOWARD KIM & ASSOCIATES 
 
/s/ Jacqueline A. Gilbert   
Howard C. Kim, Esq. 
Nevada Bar No. 10386 
Jacqueline A. Gilbert, Esq. 
Nevada Bar No. 10593 
Diana S. Cline, Esq. 
Nevada Bar No. 10580 
1055 Whitney Ranch Dr., Suite 110 
Henderson, Nevada  89014 
Phone: (702) 485-3300 
Fax:     (702) 485-330 
Attorneys for SFR Investments Pool 1, LLC 

 
 

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

I hereby certify that on the 14th day of May 2018, pursuant to NRCP 5(b)(2)(D), I caused 

service of a true and correct copy of the foregoing NOTICE OF APPEAL to be made 

electronically via the Eighth Judicial District Court's electronic filing system upon the following 

parties at the e-mail addresses listed below: 

  "Darren T. Brenner, Esq." . darren.brenner@akerman.com 

  Akerman Las Vegas Office . akermanlas@akerman.com 

  P. Sterling Kerr . psklaw@aol.com 

  Richard J. Vilkin . richard@vilkinlaw.com 

 
/s/ Jessica E. Brown  
An employee of KIM GILBERT EBRON 
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ACAS 
DIANA S. EBRON, ESQ. 
Nevada Bar No. 10580 
E-Mail: diana@kgelegal.com 
JACQUELINE A. GILBERT, ESQ. 
Nevada Bar No. 10593 
E-Mail: jackie@kgelegal.com 
KAREN L. HANKS, ESQ. 
Nevada Bar No. 9578 
E-Mail: karen@kgelegal.com 
KIM GILBERT EBRON 
7625 Dean Martin Drive, Suite 110 
Las Vegas, Nevada  89139-5974 
Telephone: (702) 485-3300 
Facsimile: (702) 485-3301 
Attorney for Defendant/Counterclaimant/Third-Party Plaintiff, 
SFR Investments Pool 1, LLC 
 

IN THE EIGHTH JUDICIAL DISTRICT COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA 

IN AND FOR THE COUNTY OF CLARK 
 
 
IGNACIO GUTIERREZ, an individual, 
 

Plaintiff, 

vs. 

SFR INVESTMENTS POOL 1, LLC; 
NEVADA ASSOCIATION SERVICES, INC.; 
HORIZON HEIGHTS HOMEOWNERS 
ASSOCIATION; KB HOME MORTGAGE 
COMPANY, a foreign corporation; DOE 
Individuals I through X; ROE Corporations 
and Organizations I through X, 
 

Defendants. 

SFR INVESTMENTS POOL 1, LLC, a 
Nevada limited liability company, 

Counterclaimant/ 
Third-Party Plaintiff, 

vs. 

IGNACIO GUTIERREZ, an individual; 
NATIONSTAR MORTGAGE, LLC, a 
Delaware limited liability company; 
COUNTRYWIDE HOME LOANS, INC., a 
foreign corporation; DOES I-X; and ROES 1-
10, inclusive, 

 
Case No.:   A-13-684715-C 
Dept. No.:  XVII 
 
 
AMENDED CASE APPEAL STATEMENT 
 
 

Case Number: A-13-684715-C

Electronically Filed
5/14/2018 6:12 PM
Steven D. Grierson
CLERK OF THE COURTCLERK OF THE COURT
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Counter-Defendant/ 
Third-Party Defendants. 

 
 
NEVADA ASSOCIATION SERVICES, INC., 
 

Counterclaimant, 
 
vs. 
 
IGNACIO GUTIERREZ, 
 

Counter-Defendant. 
 
 

AMENDED CASE APPEAL STATEMENT 

1. Name of appellant filing this case appeal statement: 
 
 Defendant/Counter-claimant/Third Party Plaintiff SFR Investment Pool 1, LLC 
 
2. Identify the judge issuing the decision, judgment, or order appealed from: 
 
 The Honorable Michael P. Villani 
 
3. Identify each appellant and the name and address of counsel for each 

appellant:  

Attorney for Defendant/Counterclaimant/Third-Party Plaintiff, 
SFR Investments Pool 1, LLC 
JACQUELINE A. GILBERT, ESQ. 
DIANA S. CLINE, ESQ. 
KAREN L. HANKS, ESQ. 
KIM GILBERT EBRON 
7625 Dean Martin Drive, Suite 110 
Las Vegas, Nevada  89139-5974 
Telephone: (702) 485-3300 
Facsimile: (702) 485-3301 

  
4. Identify each respondent and the name and address of appellate counsel, if 

known, for each respondent (if the name of a respondent’s appellate counsel is 
unknown, indicate as much and provide the name and address of that 
respondent’s trial counsel):  
 
Appellate Counsel Unknown; Trial Counsel for Respondent Nationstar Mortgage, 
LLC 
ARIEL E. STERN, ESQ. 
MELANIE D. MORGAN, ESQ. 
TENESA POWELL, ESQ. 
AKERMAN, LLP 
1635 Village Center Circle, Suite 200 
Las Vegas, NV 89134-6375 
(702) 634-5000 
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5. Indicate whether any attorney identified above in response to question 3 or 4 is 

not licensed practice law in Nevada and, if so, whether the district court 
granted that attorney permission to appear under SCR 42 (attach a copy of 
any district court order granting such permission): 

 
 N/A 
 
6. Indicate whether appellant was represented by appointed or retained counsel 

in the district court:  
  
 Retained counsel  
 
7. Indicate whether appellant is represented by appointed or retained counsel 
 on appeal: 
  
 Retained counsel  
 
8. Indicate whether appellant was granted leave to proceed in forma pauperis, 

and the date of entry of the district court order granting such leave: 
 
 N/A 
 
9. Indicate the date the proceedings commenced in the district court, e.g., date 

complaint, indictment, information, or petition was filed: 
 
 Complaint filed July 8, 2013  
 
10. Provide a brief description of the nature of the action and result in the district 

court, including the type of judgment or order being appealed and the relief 
granted by the district court: 

 
Former homeowner Ignacio Gutierrez filed a complaint for wrongful foreclosure 
and declaratory judgment after defendant Horizon Heights Homeowners 
Association (“Association”) foreclosed on the subject property pursuant to NRS 
116.3116 et seq, and SFR purchased the property at a publically held-foreclosure 
auction. SFR filed an answer and brought counter-claims against Gutierrez and 
third-party complaint against third-party defendants Nationstar Mortgage, LLC and 
Countrywide Home Loans, LLC for quiet title/declaratory judgment, injunctive 
relief, and, in the alternative, unjust enrichment. Mr. Gutierrez was eventually 
dismissed from the case.  
 
The district court originally entered summary judgment in favor of SFR, which the 
Bank appealed. This Court authored a published opinion in that case, Nationstar 
Mortgage, LLC v. SFR Investments Pool 1, LLC, 133 Adv. Op. 34 (June 22, 2017).    
 
Following remittitur, both parties moved for summary judgment and the District 
Court heard arguments on the motions on January 3, 2018.  On April 11, 2018, the 
District Court granted Nationstar’s Motion for Summary Judgment, and a notice of 
the order was served the same day.   

 
 

11. Indicate whether the case has previously been the subject of an appeal or an 
original writ proceeding in the Supreme Court and, if so, the caption and 
Supreme Court docket number of the prior proceeding. 
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1 
Nationstar Mortgage, LLC v. SFR Investments Pool 1, LLC, Case No.: 69400 

 
12. Indicate whether this appeal involves child custody or visitation: 
 

N/A 
 

13. If this is a civil case, indicate whether this appeal involves the possibility of 
settlement:  

 
 SFR is always willing to talk settlement but believes the likelihood is low in this 

case, as there are legal issues of first impression remaining regarding whether § 
4617(j)(3) applies to this case. 

 

  DATED May 14, 2018. 
 KIM GILBERT EBRON 

 
/s/ Jacqueline A. Gilbert   

 DIANA S. EBRON, ESQ. 
 Nevada Bar No. 10580 
 E-Mail: diana@kgelegal.com 
 JACQUELINE A. GILBERT, ESQ. 
 Nevada Bar No. 10593 
 E-Mail: jackie@kgelegal.com 
 KAREN L. HANKS, ESQ. 
 Nevada Bar No. 9578 
 E-Mail: karen@kgelegal.com 
 KIM GILBERT EBRON 
 7625 Dean Martin Drive, Suite 110 
 Las Vegas, Nevada  89139-5974 
 Telephone: (702) 485-3300 
 Facsimile: (702) 485-3301 
 Attorney for Defendant/Counterclaimant/ 
 Third-Party Plaintiff, 
 SFR Investments Pool 1, LLC 
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1 
CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

I hereby certify that on the 14th day of May 2018, pursuant to NRCP 5(b)(2)(D), I caused 

service of a true and correct copy of the foregoing AMENDED CASE APPEAL STATEMENT to 

be made electronically via the Eighth Judicial District Court's electronic filing system upon the 

following parties at the e-mail addresses listed below: 

 "Darren T. Brenner, Esq." . darren.brenner@akerman.com 

 Akerman Las Vegas Office . akermanlas@akerman.com 

 P. Sterling Kerr . psklaw@aol.com 

 Richard J. Vilkin . richard@vilkinlaw.com 

 
 
/s/ Jessica E. Brown  
An employee of KIM GILBERT EBRON 
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SB 
MELANIE D. MORGAN, ESQ. 
Nevada Bar No. 8215 
DONNA M. WITTIG, ESQ. 
Nevada Bar No. 11015 
AKERMAN LLP 
1635 Village Center Circle, Suite 200 
Las Vegas, Nevada 89134 
Telephone: (702) 634-5000 
Facsimile: (702) 380-8572 
Email: melanie.morgan@akerman.com 
Email: donna.wittig@akerman.com 

Attorneys for Nationstar Mortgage, LLC 

DISTRICT COURT 

CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA 

IGNACIO GUTIERREZ, an individual,

Plaintiff, 

vs.

SFR INVESTMENTS POOL 1, LLC; NEVADA 
ASSOCIATION SERVICES, INC.; HORIZON 
HEIGHTS HOMEOWNERS ASSOCIATION; 
KB HOME MORTGAGE COMPANY, a foreign 
corporation; DOE Individuals I through X; ROE 
Corporations and Organizations I through X,  

Defendants. 

Case No.: A-13-684715-C  
Dept.: XVIII 

NATIONSTAR MORTGAGE LLC’S 
SUPPLEMENTAL BRIEFING 
FOLLOWING REMAND  

SFR INVESTMENTS POOL 1, LLC, Nevada 
Limited Liability Company,  

Counter-Claimant and Third Party Plaintiff, 

vs.

IGNACIO GUTIERREZ, an individual; 
NATIONSTAR MORTGAGE, LLC, a Delaware 
limited liability company; COUNTRYWIDE 
HOME LOANS, INC., a foreign corporation; 
DOES I through X; and ROES 1-10, inclusive, 

Counter-Defendant and Third Party Defendants. 

. . . 

. . . 

Case Number: A-13-684715-C

Electronically Filed
1/29/2020 5:30 PM
Steven D. Grierson
CLERK OF THE COURTCLERK OF THE COURT
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INTRODUCTION 

This case was remanded so the Court can clarify whether there existed a sufficient basis to 

deny, impliedly, SFR’s January 2018 motion to strike the declaration of Freddie Mac employee 

Dean Meyer.  The district court1 had sufficient justification for that decision because any such 

disclosure was harmless.  This Court, on remand, should now expressly state this in a new order that 

also reconfirms the April 2018 order granting Nationstar’s motion for summary judgment. 

In vacating the district court’s order granting Nationstar’s motion for summary judgment, the 

Nevada Supreme Court did not question the ultimate merits of the district court’s decision.  To the 

contrary, the Nevada Supreme Court confirmed that the evidentiary record in this case was sufficient 

for summary judgment in Nationstar’s favor under its controlling decision in Daisy Trust v. Wells 

Fargo Bank, N.A., 445 P.3d 846 (Nev. 2019).  Rather, the Nevada Supreme Court remanded the case 

because it could not determine from the record whether the district court’s implied decision not to 

strike Dean Meyer’s declaration was based on a determination that any delayed disclosure was 

substantially justified or harmless.   

The record shows that any delayed disclosure was harmless.  Accordingly, Nationstar 

respectfully requests the Court expressly hold that any failure to disclose a Freddie Mac witness was 

harmless, and otherwise reconfirm the district court’s prior ruling granting Nationstar’s summary 

judgment motion.  In the alternative, the Court should reopen discovery for the limited purpose of 

allowing a deposition of Mr. Meyer, which would alleviate any potential prejudice to SFR and 

permit the parties to finally conclude this case with dispositive motions. 

PROCEDURAL HISTORY 

In July 2013, the borrower on the loan at issue filed a complaint against SFR and other 

parties for wrongful foreclosure and declaratory relief.  SFR then filed a third-party complaint 

against Nationstar seeking to quiet title to the property at issue.  In July 2015, Nationstar answered 

SFR’s complaint, raising the preemptive effect of 12 U.S.C. § 4617(j)(3), the Federal Foreclosure 

Bar, as an affirmative defense—an affirmative defense that necessarily put SFR on notice of the fact 

1 Nationstar refers to the court who originally heard this matter before the department reassignment 
on January 7, 2019 as the "district court" to avoid confusion and to this department as the "Court."
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that Nationstar intended to prove that Freddie Mac or Fannie Mae owned the subject loan.  The 

district court granted summary judgment in favor of SFR in November 2015, denying Nationstar’s 

countermotion for summary judgment, on the grounds that Nationstar lacked standing to assert the 

Federal Foreclosure Bar.  But the Nevada Supreme Court reversed that order in a published decision, 

holding that the plain language of the Housing and Economic Recovery Act of 2008 (HERA), Pub. 

L. No. 110-289, 122 Stat. 2654 (codified as 12 U.S.C. § 4511 et seq.) allows an authorized servicer 

to raise the Federal Foreclosure Bar on FHFA’s behalf.  Nationstar Mortg., LLC v. SFR Invs. Pool 1, 

LLC, 396 P.3d 754, 757-58 (Nev. 2017).  The Nevada Supreme Court then remanded for a 

determination of Nationstar’s relationship with Freddie Mac.  Id. at 757-58. 

In July 2017, the district court reopened discovery for a brief period.  Nationstar timely 

produced the documents Mr. Meyer relied on in his declaration with its third and fourth 

supplemental disclosures, on July 28, 2017, and September 19, 2017, respectively.  Despite knowing 

the basis for Nationstar’s arguments and having received Freddie Mac’s business records during the 

discovery period, SFR never noticed a deposition of a Freddie Mac witness.   

The parties then filed cross-motions for summary judgment on November 15 and 16, 2017.  

Nationstar’s motion included the declaration of Mr. Meyer, which relied on the previously disclosed 

Freddie Mac business records.  (See Nationstar’s Renew. Mot. for Summ. J., at Ex. B.)   On 

November 29, 2017, Nationstar served its sixth supplemental disclosures which named Freddie 

Mac’s corporate representative as an individual with knowledge of Freddie Mac’s ownership of the 

Loan.  SFR’s December 2017 opposition to Nationstar’s Motion for Summary Judgment was 

accompanied by a motion to strike Mr. Meyer’s declaration. 

After briefing and a hearing on the cross-motions for summary judgment, the district court 

awarded summary judgment to Nationstar and denied SFR’s motion for summary judgment.  (See 

Order, April 11, 2018, reattached here as Ex. A.)  SFR appealed and the Nevada Supreme Court then 

vacated and remanded that decision with respect to the basis for the implied denial of SFR’s motion 

to strike.  (See Ex. B, Remand Order, October 24, 2019.) 

. . . 

. . . 
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ARGUMENT 

The issue before this Court upon remand is narrow:  was Nationstar’s delayed disclosure of a 

Freddie Mac corporate representative as a witness substantially justified or harmless?  It was.  The 

only delay was the mere formality of noting the corporate witness in a disclosure; SFR knew long 

before the parties filed their 2017 motions for summary judgment that Freddie Mac’s evidence 

would be at issue in the case and had ample opportunity to depose Freddie Mac’s witness, if it had 

wished.  Therefore, the delay was harmless, and the district court was correct to impliedly reject 

SFR’s motion to strike.  This Court should do so again, expressly, now. 

The timing of Nationstar’s disclosure of Dean Meyer as Freddie Mac’s witness did not 

prejudice SFR in the slightest.  Nationstar disclosed Freddie Mac’s corporate representative as an 

individual with knowledge of Freddie Mac’s ownership of the Loan on November 29, 2017.  Its 

failure to disclose Freddie Mac’s corporate witness prior to that time was inadvertent.  But upon 

realizing its mistake, Nationstar supplemented its disclosures pursuant to Nevada Rule of Civil 

Procedure 26(e)(1).   

SFR admitted to the Nevada Supreme Court that “the documents attached to the Dean Meyer 

declaration had been disclosed during discovery.”  (Ex. C, SFR’s Op. Br. at 8.)  It knew for years 

that Nationstar intended to prove Freddie Mac owned the Loan; that was the subject of the prior 

round of dispositive motions in 2015 and the Nevada Supreme Court’s published decision in this 

case from 2017.  And as a repeat litigant in Nevada HOA foreclosure cases, with dozens of pending 

cases in both state and federal courts, SFR should have anticipated that a corporate representative 

was likely to testify in support of Freddie Mac’s records.  Accordingly, SFR could have noticed the 

deposition of a corporate representative of Freddie Mac during the discovery period afforded by the 

district court; it certainly did not need to be told that a corporate representative of Freddie Mac could 

be a relevant witness. 

SFR has deposed Mr. Meyer in at least five cases already.  See SFR Invs. Pool 1, LLC v. 

Bank of America, N.A., No. A-14-696138-C (Nev. Dist. Ct.); SFR Invs. Pool 1, LLC v. Bank of 

America, N.A., No. A-14-696561-C (Nev. Dist. Ct.); M&T Bank v. SFR Invs. Pool 1, LLC, 2:17-cv-

01867 (D. Nev.); SFR Invs. Pool 1, LLC v. Washington Mutual Bank, FA, No. A-12-672769-C (Nev. 
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Dist. Ct.); and Ocwen Loan Servicing, LLC v. SFR Invs. Pool 1, LLC, 2:17-cv-01757 (D. Nev.).  In 

none of these cases has SFR identified anything in those depositions that have caused a court to 

question whether there are any material issues with Freddie Mac’s business records or testimony that 

would preclude summary judgment.  As a result, SFR is itself well-versed in the interpretation of 

Freddie Mac’s records; it did not need to rely on Dean Meyer’s explanation to understand what those 

records show.  SFR suffered no prejudice from the late disclosure. 

The only prejudice SFR could pinpoint to the Nevada Supreme Court is that it “was never 

afforded the opportunity to conduct discovery as to Mr. Meyer’s Declaration or exhibits.” (Ex. C, 

SFR’s Op. Brief at 16.)  But because the declaration served only to present, authenticate, and explain 

business records that had been timely disclosed, which identify the servicer and the fact that Freddie 

Mac owned the Deed of Trust on the date of the HOA Sale—exactly the sort of evidence the Nevada 

Supreme Court deemed sufficient to support summary judgment in Daisy Trust—deposing Mr. 

Meyer would have been “[dis]proportional to the needs of the case.”  See NRCP 26(b)(1).  Nor 

would Mr. Meyer’s deposition be necessary to test the veracity and admissibility of the evidence.  

The Nevada Supreme Court already has found materially identical business records and declaration 

testimony sufficient to prove an Enterprise’s property interest.  Daisy Trust, 445 P.3d at 849-51. 

To the extent SFR suffered any prejudice by the late disclosure of a corporate representative 

of Freddie Mac, SFR could easily have cured that prejudice by seeking Rule 56(d) relief and 

requesting an opportunity to depose a witness about the business records.  But it failed to do so, 

instead moving to strike.  This suggests that SFR is more interested in winning on a technicality than 

in further discovery into the business records and Freddie Mac’s property interest. 

Accordingly, this Court should issue an order expressly holding that any late disclosure of a 

Freddie Mac corporate representative as a witness was harmless, supporting the denial of SFR’s 

motion to strike.  Given the fact that the Nevada Supreme Court has already confirmed that 

Nationstar’s evidence is sufficient for summary judgment in its favor, (Ex. B, Remand Order, 

October 24, 2019, at 1), any other outcome would deprive the parties a resolution on the merits for 

the sake of a harmless procedural error.  In the alternative, this Court can deny the motion to strike 

and remedy any prejudice by reopening discovery for the limited basis of giving SFR an opportunity 
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to take a deposition of Freddie Mac’s corporate representative, followed by renewed motions for 

summary judgment. 

CONCLUSION 

For the foregoing reasons, the Court should issue a decision granting Nationstar’s Motion for 

Summary Judgment which also expressly rejects SFR’s Motion to Strike.  In the alternative, the 

Court should order a limited reopening of discovery and set a schedule for new motions for summary 

judgment. 

DATED January 29th, 2020. 

AKERMAN LLP 

/s/ Donna M. Wittig 
MELANIE D. MORGAN, ESQ. 
Nevada Bar No. 8215 
DONNA M. WITTIG, ESQ.  
Nevada Bar No. 11015 
1635 Village Center Circle, Ste. 200 
Las Vegas, Nevada 89134 

Attorneys for Nationstar Mortgage LLC 
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I HEREBY CERTIFY that I am an employee of AKERMAN LLP, and that on this 29th day of 

January, 2020, I caused to be served a true and correct copy of the foregoing NATIONSTAR 

MORTGAGE LLC’S SUPPLEMENTAL BRIEFING FOLLOWING REMAND, in the 

following manner: 

(ELECTRONIC SERVICE) Pursuant to Administrative Order 14-2, the above-referenced 

document was electronically filed on the date hereof and served through the Notice of Electronic 

Filing automatically generated by the Court’s facilities to those parties listed on the Court’s Master 

Service List as follows: 

KIM GILBERT EBRON

Diana S. Ebron diana@kgelegal.com  
KGE E-Service List eservice@kgelegal.com 
KGE Legal Staff staff@kgelegal.com  
Michael L. Sturm mike@kgelegal.com  
tomas tomas  tomas@kgelegal.com 

LAW OFFICES OF P. STERLING KERR

P. Sterling Kerr  psklaw@aol.com 

LAW OFFICES OF RICHARD VILKIN, P.C. 
Richard J. Vilkin  richard@vilkinlaw.com 

I declare that I am employed in the office of a member of the bar of this Court at whose 

discretion the service was made. 

/s/ Carla Llarena 
An employee of AKERMAN LLP
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NRAP 26.1 DISCLOSURE 

The undersigned counsel of record certifies that the following are persons and 

entities as described in NRAP 26.1(a) and must be disclosed. These representations 

are made so the judges of this court may evaluate possible disqualification or 

recusal. 

 Apellant, SFR Investments Pool 1, LLC, is a privately held limited liability 

company and there is no publicly held company that owns 10% or more of SFR 

Investments Pool 1, LLC’s stock. 

 In district court, SFR Investments Pool 1, LLC (“SFR”) was represented by 

Howard C. Kim, Esq., Jacqueline A. Gilbert, Esq., Diana Cline Ebron, Esq. and 

Karen L. Hanks, Esq. of Kim Gilbert Ebron fka Howard Kim & Associates. The 

same attorneys represent SFR on appeal. 

DATED this 20th day of November, 2018. 
 

 
KIM GILBERT EBRON 

 
/s/Jacqueline A. Gilbert   
JACQUELINE A. GILBERT, ESQ. 
Nevada Bar No. 10593 
7625 Dean Martin Drive, Suite 110 
Las Vegas, Nevada 89139 
Attorneys for Appellant,  
SFR Investments Pool 1, LLC 
 
 

  

JA_1188



iii 
 
 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 
 

NRAP 26.1 DISCLOSURE ........................................................................................... ii 

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES .............................................................................................. v 

JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT ................................................................................... vii 

ROUTING STATEMENT .............................................................................................. vii 

ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW ............................................................................... ix 

STATEMENT OF THE CASE ........................................................................................... 1 

FACTUAL BACKGROUND ............................................................................................. 5 

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT ........................................................................................... 7 

STANDARD OF REVIEW .............................................................................................. 10 

ARGUMENT ............................................................................................................... 11 

I.  THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED IN FINDING FREDDIE MAC “OWNED 
THE LOAN” SUCH THAT THE FEDERAL FORECLOSURE BAR 
APPLIED TO CLOUD SFR’S TITLE. .................................................................. 11 

  The Form Deed of Trust is Not Proof of Freddie Mac’s 
Interest ................................................................................................. 11 

  The District Court Failed to Rule on SFR’s Motion to 
Strike, or if It Impliedly Did, Failed to Make Finding 
Related to Its Denial ............................................................................ 13 

  The Bank Disregarded NRCP 16.1, Despite having 
Additional Time to Disclose Dean Meyer; His 
Declaration and All Argument Relying on It Should be 
Disregarded. ........................................................................................ 15 

  There Could Be No Substantial Justification for the 
Bank’s Failure to Timely Produce Freddie Mac 
Evidence. ............................................................................................. 16 

JA_1189



iv 
 
 

II.  EVEN IF THE FREDDIE MAC EVIDENCE WAS TIMELY AND PROPER, 
WHICH IT WAS NOT, IT IS STILL INSUFFICIENT TO ESTABLISH THE 
REQUISITE OWNERSHIP AND RELATIONSHIP, AS IS THE 
NATIONSTAR EVIDENCE. ................................................................................. 18 

  The Freddie Mac Evidence is Unreliable and Lacking to 
Show Either Freddie’s Ownership of the Loan or a 
Servicing Relationship with Nationstar. ............................................. 18 

  The Nationstar Evidence is Similarly Flawed. .................................... 23 

III.  THE APRIL 2015 PRESS RELEASE IS INADMISSIBLE HEARSAY. ....................... 25 

IV.  THIS COURT HAS UNEQUIVOCALLY AFFORDED PROTECTION TO 
BONA FIDE PURCHASERS. ............................................................................... 25 

V.  EVEN IF THIS COURT FINDS THE SALE WAS IMPROPER, THE 
CORRECT RESULT IS THAT THE SALE SHOULD BE VOID. ................................ 29 

CONCLUSION ............................................................................................................. 30 

CERTIFICATE OF COMPLIANCE .................................................................................. 31 

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE .......................................................................................... 33 

  

JA_1190



v 
 
 

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES 

CASES 

Barkley’s Appeal. Bentley’s Estate, 2 Monag. 274 (Pa. 1888) ................................ 27 

Bass-Davis v. Davis, 
122 Nev. 442, 134 P.3d 103 (2006) ............................................................... 21 

Breliant v. Preferred Equities Corp., 112 Nev. 663, 918 P.2d 314 
(1996) ............................................................................................................. 11 

Humphries v. New York-New York Hotel & Casino, 
133 Nev. ___,  403 P.3d 358 (2017) .............................................................. 10 

In re Montierth, 
131 Nev. ___, 354 P.3d 648 (2015) ............................................................. viii 

In re Vee Vinhnee, 
336 B.R. 437 (B.A.P. 9th Cir. 2005)....................................................... 20, 24 

In re Vlasek, 
 325 F.3d 955 (7th Cir. 2003) ........................................................................ 26 

Nationstar Mortgage, LLC v. Guberland LLC-Series 3, Case No. 
70546 ........................................................................................................... viii 

Nationstar Mortgage, LLC v. Saticoy Bay LLC Series 2227 Shadow 
Canyon, 
133 Nev. ___,  405 p.3d 641 (2017) .............................................................. 11 

Nationstar Mortgage, LLC v. SFR Investments Pool 1, LLC, 
133 Nev. ___,  396 P.3d 754 (2017) ......................................................... 2, 27 

Riganti v. McElhinney,  
56 Cal. Rptr. 195 (Ct. App. 1967) ................................................................. 26 

SFR Investments Pool 1, LLC v. Green Tree Servicing, LLC, Case No. 
72010 ........................................................................................................... viii 

SFR Investments Pool 1, LLC v. U.S. Bank, N.A.,  
130 Nev. 742,  334 P.3d 408 (2014) ................................................................ 7 

JA_1191



vi 
 
 

Shadow Wood Homeowners Ass’n., Inc. v. New York Comm. Bancorp, 
Inc., 132 Nev. ___, ___, 366 P.3d 1105 (2016) ............................... 26, 27, 28 

Smith v. United States, 
373 F.2d 419 (4th Cir. 1966) ......................................................................... 26 

Swartz v. Adams, 
93 Nev. 240, 563 P.2d 74 (1977) ................................................................... 28 

Wood v. Safeway, 
121 Nev. 724, 121 P.3d 1026 (2005) ................................................ 10, 11, 19 

 

STATUTES 

12 U.S.C. § 4617(j)(3) ..................................................................................... passim 

Nev. Rev. Stat. § 116.3116 ....................................................................................1, 7 

Nev. Rev. Stat. § 116.31164 .................................................................................... 11 

Nev. Rev. Stat. § 47.250 .......................................................................................... 11 

Nev. Rev. Stat. § 51.155 .......................................................................................... 25 

 

RULES 

Nev. R. App. P. 17 .................................................................................................. vii 

Nev. R. App. P. 26.1 ................................................................................................. ii 

Nev. R. Civ. P. 16.1 ................................................................................................. 15 

Nev. R. Civ. P. 16.2 ................................................................................................. 15 

Nev. R. Civ. P. 26(e) ................................................................................................ 15 

Nev. R. Civ. P. 37(c) ......................................................................................... 15, 17 

Nev. R. Civ. P. 56(c) ................................................................................................ 19 

JA_1192



vii 
 
 

 

JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT 

 This Court has jurisdiction pursuant to NRAP 3A, as the Order granting 

Nationstar Mortgage LLC’s Renewed Motion for Summary Judgment, entered on 

April 11, 2018, notice of entry of whch was entered the same day, disposed of all 

claims remaining in the case.1 SFR timely appealed on May 14, 2018. (5JA_1136-

1137.) 

ROUTING STATEMENT 

 This case should stay with the Nevada Supreme Court pursuant to NRAP 

17(a)(13)-(14), because it raises issues of first impression. First is the type of 

evidence that can be used to prove and conclude a given loan is “owned” by Fannie 

Mae or Freddie Mac such that 12 U.S.C. 4617(j)(3) applies. Here, the district court 

in making its findings and conclusions on the record stated it was relying solely on 

the footer on the deed of trust stating the document was prepared on a Nevada—

Single Family – Fannie Mae/Freddie Mac UNIFORM INSTRUMENT – MERS. 

This issue was never raised by either party and therefore, SFR did not have an 

                                           
1 Gutierrez’s claims against the Association and NAS were dismissed by Order 
entered on February 14, 2014. (5JA_1155-1156.) The same order resolved NAS’s 
claims against Gutierrez. (Id.) SFR and Gutierrez stipulated to dismiss their 
respective claims against each other by order entered on May 9, 2014. (5JA_1144-
1147.) 

JA_1193



viii 
 
 

opportunity to address the issue at the district court level.2  Furthermore, this appeal 

raises issues of first impression that have not yet been adjudicated in a published 

opinion of this Court: (1) the breadth and scope of In re Monteirth,3 when the parties 

are not merely in a creditor/debtor relationship as in that case and where the rights 

of a third party have intervened; and (2) whether the “federal foreclosure Bar” acts 

to defeat a third-party’s rights when Freddie Mac is not the beneficiary of record and 

a property interest does not attach as to third parties until recorded.  These issues 

may be resolved by cases already pending before the Court,4 but as yet there is no 

binding case law on point.  

 While some of the evidentiary issues raised in this appeal may presumptively 

be routed to the Court of Appeals, this is an issue that arises so often in these NRS 

116 cases – where SFR has had to deal with trial/hearing by ambush related to 

purported Fannie/Freddie ownership with documents never produced in discovery 

and which are inadmissible due to failure of authentication/foundation that this Court 

                                           
2 This serves as the basis for SFR’s concurrently filed Motion to Supplement the 
Record, to provide testimony from witnesses for both Fannie and Freddie as to the 
nature of the form. Evidence that would have been produced had the issue arisen in 
the district court.  
3 131 Nev. ___, 354 P.3d 648 (2015). 
4 SFR Investments Pool 1, LLC v. Green Tree Servicing, LLC, Case No. 72010, on 
the issue of whether a deed of trust is property of the FHFA for purposes of 
4617(j)(3) when its interest is not recorded in Fannie or Freddie’s name as required 
to attach as to third parties. See also Nationstar Mortgage, LLC v. Guberland LLC-
Series 3, Case No. 70546 (same).   
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should retain the case. In too many of these cases the Rules of Civil Procedure and 

evidentiary standards are ignored or violations excused, where they would not be in 

other types of cases, such as personal injury.  

 Finally, this Court should determine the sufficiency of electronic records, 

especially provided only as partial screen shots to “prove’ GSE “ownership” of a 

note or deed of trust where the public records provide otherwise.  

ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW 

1. Whether the footer on a deed of trust stating that the document is Nevada—

Single Family – Fannie Mae/Freddie Mac UNIFORM INSTRUMENT – 

MERS, is proof of Freddie Mac’s actual interest in the loan or deed of trust.  

2. Whether the district court erred in failing to consider and rule on SFR’s 

Motion to Strike evidence that was unjustifiably disclosed even after the 

extended discovery period the Bank requested. 

3. Whether summary judgment was appropriate when the evidence relied on 

for proof of Freddie Mac’s purported ownership of the loan and deed of 

trust, and the purported servicing relationship between Freddie Mac and 

Nationstar was inadmissible, unreliable and contradicted by witness 

testimony. 
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STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

The real property located at 663 Moonlight Stroll Street, Henderson, Nevada 

89002 (the “Property”) was subject to foreclosure pursuant to the provisions of Nev. 

Rev. Stat. § (“NRS”) 116.3116, et seq. Specifically, Horizon Heights Homeowners 

Association (the “Association”), through its foreclosure agent, Nevada Association 

Services, Inc. (“NAS”) foreclosed on its lien for delinquent homeowner’s 

association assessments on April 5, 2013, resulting in a sale at public auction to 

SFR Investments Pool 1, LLC (“SFR”) as the highest bidder. 

On July 8, 2013, former homeowner, Ignacio Gutierrez (“Gutierrez”), filed 

its Complaint against SFR, NAS, the Association, and original lender KB Home 

Mortgage Company for wrongful foreclosure and declaratory relief. (1JA_0001-

0010).  On August 2, 2013, SFR filed an Answer to Complaint, Counterclaim 

against Gutierrez, and Third Party Complaint against Nationstar Mortgage, LLC 

(“the Bank”)5 and Countrywide Home Loans, Inc. (“Countrywide”) for Quiet Title, 

Unjust Enrichment and Injunctive Relief. (1JA_0011-0026.) Bank of America 

(“BANA”), claiming it was successor in interest to third-party defendant 

Countrywide, filed an Answer to SFR’s Third Party Complaint on October 8, 2014. 

                                           
5 Unless otherwise stated, “the Bank” includes Nationstar and its predecessors in 
interest. 
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(1JA_44-48.) Although later alleging that Federal National Mortgage Corporation 

(“Freddie Mac”) had owned the loan and the deed of trust since August of 2005, 

and that MERS as nominee assigned the deed of trust to BANA, BANA, who was 

allegedly an agent of Freddie Mac, did not assert any of these facts or an affirmative 

defense of 12 U.S.C. § 4617(j)(3) (“Federal Foreclosure Bar” or “Bar”). (1JA_68, 

¶¶ 2-3.) It was not until Nationstar filed its answer, almost a year later, that the Bank 

asserted that the Deed of Trust as to this Property was precluded from 

extinguishment by the Bar.  (1JA_0049, 54.)   

The district court originally entered summary judgment in favor of SFR 

concluding that Nationstar lacked standing to raise the Bar as a defense.6 The Bank 

appealed.7 This Court authored a published opinion in that case, holding a servicer 

of a regulated entity (such as Freddie Mac) has standing to raise the Bar.8  However, 

the Court remanded for the district court to determine (1) whether the Federal Home 

Loan Mortgage Corporation (“Freddie Mac”) had an ownership interest in the loan 

and (2) whether there was an actual, contractual relationship between Nationstar 

and Freddie Mac.9 The Court also remanded to allow Nationstar to introduce 

                                           
6 Nationstar Mortgage, LLC v. SFR Investments Pool 1, LLC, 133 Nev. ___,  396 
P.3d 754, 756 (2017). 
7 Id.  
8 Id. at 758. 
9 Id. 
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evidence to support any equitable claim.10  

Following remittitur, and over SFR’s objection, on July 19, 2017, the district 

court granted the Bank’s motion to reopen discovery for 90 days—until October 17, 

2017—to allow it to supplement disclosures and therefore, allow SFR to depose 

additional witnesses based on those disclosures. (See 1JA_59-61.) Despite having 

this extra time, the Bank failed to disclose Dean Meyer, an employee of Freddie 

Mac, or his Declaration. (4JA_886.)  

On November 15, 2017, the Bank filed a Motion for Summary Judgment 

against SFR SFR’s claims. (1JA_0062-2JA_0336.) In it, the Bank relied on Mr. 

Meyer’s undisclosed declaration in an attempt to authenticate Freddie Mac’s 

computer screen shots. (1JA_0113-119.) On November 16, 2017, SFR filed its 

Motion for Summary Judgment against the Bank on its claims and against the 

Bank’s claims. (2JA_0337-4JA_0852.)   On December 14, 2017, SFR opposed the 

Bank’s Motion for Summary Judgment and filed a Countermotion to Strike the 

belatedly disclosed Declaration of Dean Meyer, employee of Freddie Mac, and all 

arguments related to it. (4JA_0853-0930.) The declaration executed on November 

10, 2017, well after the close of the extended discovery period and well before it 

was ultimately belatedly disclosed on November 29, 207, after hours, almost 45 

                                           
10 Id. 
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days after the end of extended discovery.  (See 1JA_0119; 4JA_886.)   

Following full briefing and a hearing held on January 17, 2018, the district 

court took the matter under advisement, and issued its detailed minute order on 

January 31, 2018. (5JA_1080-1111.) The district court granted summary judgment 

in favor of the Bank. (5JA_1111-1120.) It found, based on the footer on the deed of 

trust stating it was a Nevada—Single Family – Fannie Mae/Freddie Mac 

UNIFORM INSTRUMENT – MERS, that Federal National Mortgage Corporation 

(“Freddie Mac”) “owned” the loan and deed of trust. (5JA_1109.) The Bank did not 

raise the form deed of trust as evidence of proof in its motion for summary 

judgment. (See generally, 1JS_0062-2JA_0336.) Thus, SFR did not have the 

opportunity to brief the issue in its opposition or in its reply. (See generally, 

4JA_0853-0930; 4JA_0943-0950.) The district court also found that Nationstar was 

Freddie’s servicer based on screen shots from Nationstar’s computer system, and 

that SFR had not shown that Federal Housing Finance Agency (“FHFA”) had 

consented to the foreclosure and, therefore, the Bar applied. (See 5JA_1109, 1116, 

1117, 1118.) Thus, SFR took title to the Property subject to the deed of trust. (See 

5JA_1109, 1120.)  As to the equity claims, the district court found that the Bank 

failed to provide actual evidence of fraud, oppression or unfairness as to the conduct 

of the sale and, therefore the sale was “commercially reasonable,” that there was no 

basis to set aside the sale. (5JA_1120.) The District Court also denied as moot SFR’s 
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Countermotion to Strike, based on its decision to determine Freddie’s ownership 

based on the form deed of trust. (5JA_1107-1110).   

FACTUAL BACKGROUND 

 In addition to the facts presented in the Statement of the Case related to the 

proceedings, SFR presents the following undisputed facts: 

DATE FACTS 

1991 Nevada adopted Uniform Common Interest Ownership Act 
as NRS 116, including NRS 116.3116(2). 

March 30, 2003 
Association perfected and gave notice of its lien by recording 
its Declaration of CC&Rs as Instrument No. 
20030630002850.11 

July 20, 2005 
Ignacio Gutierrez obtained title to the Property through a 
Grant Bargain Sale Deed recorded as Instrument No. 
200507200004599.12 

July 20, 2005 

First Deed of Trust (“FDOT”) in favor of KB Home 
Mortgage Company recorded as Instrument No. 
200507200004600, naming MERS as the nominee 
beneficiary.13   

July 10, 2012 Association recorded Notice of Delinquent Assessments as 
Instrument No. 20120710000129614 

August 30, 2012 Association recorded Notice of Default.15 

November 28, 
2012 Assignment of First Deed of Trust to Nationstar recorded.16 

February 20, 
2013 Association recorded a Notice of Foreclosure Sale. 17 

                                           
11 2JA_0363-0364.  
12 2JA_0365-0375. 
13 1JA_0089-0111.  
14 2JA_0400-0401. 
15 2JA_0402-0404. 
16 2JA_0405-406. 
17 2JA_0407-0409. 
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April 5, 2013 Association foreclosure sale took place and SFR placed 
winning bid of $11,000.00.18 

April 8, 2013 

Association foreclosure deed vesting title in SFR recorded as 
Instrument No. 201304080001036.19  
As recited in the Association Foreclosure Deed, the 
Association foreclosure sale complied with all requirements 
of law, including but not limited to, the elapsing of 90 days, 
recording and mailing of copies of Notice of Delinquent 
Assessment and Notice of Default, and the recording, posting 
and publication of the Notice of Sale. 
SFR has no reason to doubt the recitals in the Foreclosure 
Deed — if there were any issues with delinquency or 
noticing, none of these were communicated to SFR.20  
Further, neither SFR, nor its manager, have any relationship 
with the Association besides owning property within the 
community and bidding on properties at auction.21  

Similarly, neither SFR, nor its manager, have any 
relationship with the Association’s agent beyond attending 
auctions and bidding on properties.22 

Prior to April 8, 
2013 

No release of the super-priority lien was recorded.23 
No lis pendens was recorded by Nationstar.24 
The Bank did not allege or argue it made any payment to the 
Association or NAS.25 
Freddie Mac was never a recorded beneficiary on the deed of 
trust.26 

 

                                           
18 2JA_0410-0413. 
19 Id.  
20 2JA_0414-0415, at ¶ 7.  
21 Id. at ¶ 8.  
22 Id. at ¶ 9. 
23 Id. at ¶ 10.  
24 Id. at ¶ 6.  
25 1JA_46-47, 51-54. 
26 Id. at 0068.  
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The disputed facts related to whether Freddie Mac “owned” the loan and the 

deed of trust. The district court did not rely on the Dean Meyer declaration, instead 

relying solely on the form deed of trust as proof of Freddie’s ownership. (5JA_1109.) 

Thus, the district court denied SFR’s motion to strike as moot. (Id. at 1110.)  

Also disputed was Nationstar’s alleged relationship with Freddie Mac as a 

servicer. The district court found Nationstar did service the loan based on a screen 

shot from Freddie Mac’s computer records which, as demonstrated below, are 

unreliable at best. The district court also found the relationship through Nationstar’s 

records, the same records Keith Kovalic, Nationstar’s Rule 30(b)(6) witness, was 

unable to authenticate, and could not lay foundation for. (2JA_0348-350; .)   

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT 

Mortgage lenders and their agents, like the Bank, bet on their interpretation 

of NRS 116.3116(2) and refused to accept that their FDOT could be extinguished 

by a homeowners association’s superpriority lien—something unanimously decided 

by this Court in SFR Investments Pool 1, LLC v. U.S. Bank, N.A., 130 Nev. 742, 

758, 334 P.3d 408, 419 (2014).  After mortgage borrowers had defaulted on their 

loans, lenders delayed their own foreclosures at the expense of the associations, who 

went years without being paid any money for the services they provided. As such, 

the associations were forced to foreclose on their liens for unpaid assessments. It 

was the lenders’ arrogance and (in)action that led to the loss of their collateral – not 
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the state’s actions, and certainly not the actions of SFR. 

The foreclosure deed recitals provided that the subject foreclosure sale was 

properly noticed and conducted; this resulted in the extinguishment of the Bank’s 

FDOT. Moreover, there was never any indication whatsoever that Freddie Mac, or 

any entity other than the recorded beneficiaries, owned the Note and FDOT.  As 

such, the District Court erred in granting Nationstar’s Motion for Summary 

Judgment, forcing SFR to take the Property subject to the FDOT, for the following 

reasons: 

 First, the Bank failed to bring any admissible evidence that Freddie 

Mac had an ownership interest in the Property. While the documents attached to the 

Dean Meyer declaration had been disclosed during discovery, the declaration which 

was necessary to attempt to authenticate the documents and lay foundation was not. 

Without that, Freddie’s alleged ownership could not begin to be proven. When SFR 

moved to strike the declaration, the district court found what it deemed to alternative 

admissible evidence of Freddie’s ownership: the deed of trust. The district court 

erroneously found that the form proved such ownership, and any inference of such 

should have been in the light most favorable to SFR. As none of the parties raised 

this as evidence of such ownership, and the Bank never asserted it in its statement 

of undisputed facts, SFR had no opportunity to brief the issue. Thus, as seen in the 

testimony attached to SFR’s Motion to Supplement the Record, filed concurrently 

JA_1203



9 
 
 

herewith, the district court erred in relying on this form deed of trust. To the extent 

the Order Granting Nationstar Mortgage LLC’s Renewed Motion for Summary 

Judgment (“Order”) says otherwise, then it belies the district courts deeming SFR’s 

Motion to Strike as moot. If the Court relied on the Dean Meyer declaration to 

authenticate any documents for ownership, it would have denied SFR’s Motion to 

Strike outright, which it did not do, either in the minute order or in the Order. 

This Court too, should deem the declaration and any argument supported by 

the declaration as inadmissible. The Bank claimed it inadvertently forgot to attach 

the declaration to its motion for summary judgment. But the failure was not 

inadvertent. The declaration was not even executed until after the motion was filed. 

It could not have been a simple oversight of not attaching it at the time of filing. The 

declaration did not exist. This Court should not countenance such blatant disregard 

for the rules of both evidence and discovery under NRCP.  

Without admissible evidence of Freddie’s ownership, the grant of summary 

judgment in favor of the Bank based on the Bar must be reversed.    

Second,  because the Bank failed to provide admissible evidence of Freddie’s 

ownership or interest in the loan and deed of trust, the Bank’s assertions as to alleged 

servicer relationship are immaterial. But to the extent this Court deems otherwise, 

the Bank failed to bring admissible evidence that Nationstar had an actual, 

contractual servicer relationship with Freddie Mac as to this Property. The district 
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court relied on Freddie Mac’s screen shots to prove the relationship. But the Bank’s 

Rule 30(b)(6) witness, Keith Kovalic, could not testify to any of Freddie’s 

documents. Nor could he authenticate and lay foundation for the screen shot from 

Nationstar’s computer system. The Bank attempted to rely heavily on Freddie 

Mac’s Servicing Guide as proof of its relationship. But that public document does 

not create such a relationship. If it did, anyone who downloads and reads the 

document could claim such a relationship without providing more. The evidence 

provided by Nationstar was insufficient to prove any relationship and was not 

admissible due to lack of authentication and foundation.  

STANDARD OF REVIEW 

While this Court reviews “summary judgment de novo, without deference to 

the findings of the lower court[,]” Wood v. Safeway, 121 Nev. 724, 729, 121 P.3d 

1026, 1029 (2005). Summary judgment is only appropriate with the moving party is 

entitled to judgement as a matter of law. Id. at 731, 121 P.3d at 1031; see also NRCP 

56(c). In ruling on a motion for summary judgment the court must view all evidence 

and reasonable inferences drawn from it in the light most favorable to the non-

moving party.  Humphries v. New York-New York Hotel & Casino, 133 Nev. ___, 

___, 403 P.3d 358, 360 (2017), citing Wood, 121 Nev. at 729, 121 P.3d at 1029. 

Additionally, it also relies upon a number of presumptions in Nevada law regarding 

the validity of the foreclosure sale and deed, and the conclusive recitals contained in 
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